
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Tuesday, 4 January 2022 at 
7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 12)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers. 

6. Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service (Pages 13 - 20)

7. Revised Safeguarding Policy (Pages 21 - 68)

8. The Local Authority Delivery (LAD) Scheme Phase 2 Funding Grant (Pages 69 - 74)



9. Insurance Tender (Pages 75 - 80)

10.COVID-19 Additional Relief Fund (Pages 81 - 86)

11.Town Pier and Pontoon Part A Report (Pages 87 - 96)

12.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

13.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

Part B 

Items likely to be considered in Private

14.Town Pier and Pontoon Part B Report (Pages 97 - 
178)

15.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Lauren Sullivan
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Cabinet

Monday, 08 November 2021   7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair) 

Councillors:

Please note: 

Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles 
Lauren Sullivan 
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Cllrs Baljit Hayre, Dakota Dibben and Leslie Hills were in attendance. 

Nick Brown Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive 
Melanie Norris Director (Communities) 
Sarah Parfitt          Director (Corporate Services) 
Daniel Killian Director (Housing)
Lisa Nyon Assistant Director (Corporate Services)  
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager 
Ben Clarke Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

44. Apologies for absence 

An apology for absence was received from the Chief Executive. 

45. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on Monday, 04 October 2021 were signed by the 
Chair.

46. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda. When declaring an interest a member must state what 
their interest is. 

Cllr Burden declared a non-prejudicial interest in item 14 as he was one of the Council’s 
nominated trustees on the Elizabeth Huggins Charity Board; Cllr Burden agreed to leave the 
room and hand over control of the meeting to Cllr Sullivan for the duration of that item. 

Cllr Rolles declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 10 as he was the Chair of Rosherville 
Limited Company.  

47. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

There were no further decisions for Cabinet to be updated on. 

48. Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held 
on Thursday, 7 October 2021 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 8.11.2021

2

The Cabinet were presented with the minutes of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 
held on Thursday, 07 October 2021. 

Cllr Mochrie-Cox referenced the discussion on the illegality of E-Scooters and asked that the 
point be continually emphasised that they were illegal to be ridden on the roads as they were 
classified as motor vehicles and needed to be insured and taxed. The Council had no 
powers to stop people riding E-Scooters, only the Police did. Cllr Mochrie-Cox had raised the 
issue with the Police & Crime Commissioner who agreed they were a safety hazard and 
needed Governmental legislation. 

The minutes were noted. 

49. Annual Review of the Legal Shared Service 

The Cabinet were presented with the annual report giving an overview of the shared Legal 
service arrangement with Medway Council. 

The Director (Communities) advised that the report gave an overview of the progress made 
against the current objectives and listed the five service improvements for the coming year. 
The new Head of Legal was being worked with closely by officers and all political parties to 
ensure that improvements continued to be made to the service. 

The Chair felt that the range of services provided by Legal had improved and the initial 
communication issues with Medway had been rectified; originally the shared service had 
tried to impose Medway protocols on Gravesham but it had been realised that Gravesham 
was a separate entity. The new Head of Legal was working with Gravesham positively and 
the Chair was sure that the partnership would continue to improve. 

Members echoed the comments made by the Chair and looked forward to achieving the 
proposed five service improvements next year. 

Resolved that Cabinet agreed to the service improvements and noted the information 
contained within the report. 

50. Formation of a Climate Change Advisory Board 

The Cabinets approval was sought to establish a Climate Change Advisory Board as a 
formally constituted advisory board to the Cabinet. 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised Members that the report looked to formalise the 
arrangements the Council had in place with climate change activities; a Climate Change 
Cross-Party Working Group was created in June 2019 and it was agreed that it would meet 
on a quarterly basis to oversee delivery of the action plan with annual updates to Full 
Council.

Given the importance of Climate Change, both internationally, nationally and more locally for 
the council, its residents and stakeholders, it was considered that there should be greater 
transparency and public reporting of the activity of the Council around Climate Change. 
Therefore, it was proposed that a Climate Change Advisory Board be established as a 
Public Meeting and report directly into Cabinet.

Page 4



Cabinet 8.11.2021

3

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that the proposed membership of the Board and 
the Terms of Reference were listed in the report. 

The Chair advised that the proposed Membership of the Board would see two Members from 
the opposition parties (one Conservative and one Independent), two from Labour (Cabinet 
Member, Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox and Cllr Sarah Gow) and Cllr Burden as Chair. The Chair 
hoped that the opposition parties would propose the same Members as the ones assigned to 
the cross party working group as Cllr Craske and Cllr Morton had provided valuable insight 
to the group. 

Members echoed support for making the meeting public to make it more transparent and 
show the public all of the measures that the Council had taken to achieve the target of 
working towards becoming carbon neutral by 2030 and the measures already underway to 
combat climate change.  

The Chair advised that consultants were invited to the previous cross party working group 
meeting where they advised the group that the two biggest areas that needed to be 
combatted to meet the 2030 target for council operations to become carbon neutral were the 
Council’s buildings (the Civic Centre, the leisure centres and the depot) and the Council’s 
vehicle fleet. Due to the measures already underway and the planned measures to come, it 
was considered that Council operations could become carbon neutral by 2030; by making 
the meeting public the work could be shared with all in Gravesham. 

Resolved that Cabinet: 

1. Approved the proposal to establish a Climate Change Advisory Board as a 
constituted advisory board to the Cabinet

2. Approved the Membership of the Climate Change Advisory Board set out in section 
2.2 of the report

3. Approved the draft Terms of Reference for the Climate Change Advisory Board as 
set out at Appendix Two

51. Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2020-21 

The Cabinet were presented with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Two 2021-22 
(July to September 2021). 

The Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive advised that appendix two to the 
report provided Cabinet with a statistical overview of the Council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 2021-22, covering the period July to September 2021. 
Following Cabinet’s review, all Cabinet Committees would be presented with individual 
performance reports tailored to the respective portfolio responsibilities.

The Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive pointed out a typo on the agenda 
items title page; the agenda item title should read ‘Quarter Two 2021-22’; it was not Quarter 
Two 2020-21. 

Page 5



Cabinet 8.11.2021

4

Cllr Mochrie-Cox called attention to PI13 - Total number of environmental enforcement 
actions taken as there had been a slight dip in the performance. The dip was due to the level 
of complexity of the cases and the amount of time officers had to spend investigating and 
gathering evidence. A recent example was a case that was submitted to court and the 
accused was fined £1500 after being found guilty of advertising waste on Facebook where it 
was taken and fly tipped showing a lack of duty of care by the individual responsible for the 
waste. Cllr Mochrie-Cox advised that further work was underway to prosecute other cases of 
fly tipping in the Borough. The Director (Environment) & Deputy Chief Executive explained 
that all successful prosecutions would be publicised as widely as possible by the 
Communications Team, including using the Council’s social media platforms as a deterrent 
to other potential fly-tippers. 

The Chair reminded the Cabinet that people who posted pictures of white goods for 
collection outside their houses were fly tipping in the eyes of law and if evidence was found 
then the person who left the rubbish outside their home would be prosecuted. The Chair 
implored all residents that needed large waste to be collected to use the Council’s bulky 
waste collection service. 

Cllr Rolles drew Members attention to PI54 - % of apprentices securing employment by end 
of apprenticeship as he was very pleased to see the number of apprentices being employed 
by the Council following their apprenticeship. Cllr Rolles was hopeful that more apprentices 
would be hired and gain employment in the future. 

The Chair agreed with the points raised and asked that Cabinet’s thanks be passed to the 
officers managing and training the apprentices, which was exceptionally difficult to do 
remotely during the pandemic. 

The Director (Communities) advised that she would pass on the thanks to the relevant 
teams; the Council had an Employability Coordinator who concentrated on apprentices and 
Kickstart apprentices and the number was steadily rising for both. Some of the kick-starters 
had a few issues but in the main, the teams were thrilled with their apprentices; positive 
feedback received and a number of apprentices had already been approached about taking 
up full time positions once their apprenticeships ended. 

Resolved that Cabinet noted the information contained within the report. 

52. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2021/22 - Quarter Two 

The Cabinet were presented with information on actual performance against the approved 
Revenue and Capital budgets for 2021/22, including projected variances agreed or identified 
through budgetary control activity. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that there was an item in the report for 
Cabinet to approve. It related to an addition to this year’s capital programme within the 
communities directorate, which was the inclusion of the St Georges Creative Hub – details of 
which could be found in sections 4.2 and 4.3 of the report.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) explained to Members that the table at the top 
of page 59 in 3.1.2 showed the original budget, the forecast to the end of the year and 
related variances. It was predicted that there would be a budgeted underspend of around 
£235K. The main difference from Q1 was due to a favourable variance of £250K against 

Page 6



Cabinet 8.11.2021

5

staff salaries and was due to natural staff turn over and posts being held vacant due to 
restructures within services.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) further guided Members through the report and 
updated them on other key areas of financial performance that may have an impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or 
Financial Statements

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) informed Members that at the time of writing the 
report the Chancellor had not presented his budget speech along with the Spending Review 
announcements. 

However, the Council were now aware that the key headlines from the Spending Review 
were: 

 Multi-year settlement spanning 3 years with an average increase of 3% in Core 
spending power for Local Authorities. With grant funding of 4.8bn 

 Business rates multiplier would be frozen. No change to 3 yearly revaluations
 One-year 50% cut in Business Rates for the retail, hospitality and leisure sector. 

Local authorities will be compensated for this via S31 grants
 Council tax referendum limits expected to remain the same at 2%
 £1.8bn for affordable housing
 Adjustments to right to buy receipts – Authorities will be allowed to spend these over 

5 years instead of the current 3
 £37.8m additional funding for LA’s to tackle cyber security & resilience
 National living wage increasing to £9.50.

However, there was no mention of additional Covid funding and no further news on the New 
Homes Bonus or Negative Revenue Support Grant.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) explained that the Council should receive 
additional information when the provisional local government settlement was announced; 
which is usually announced in early to mid-December.

The Chair explained that no Revenue Support Grant funding had been received by the 
council for a number of years and, in fact, the council was in a position where, in future 
years, it would be expected to make payments back to the council through Negative 
Revenue Support Grant.. The Council were expected to pay £250K every year but the 
Government had not taken that payment this year; the Council were waiting to see if the 
Government expected that £250K to still be paid at some point in the future. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that the Council had budgeted around 
£244K to pay to the Government but there had been no announcement on whether or not 
the money had to be paid. 

Members voiced their approval that the Arts Centre was to be included in the Capital 
Programme and hoped that its strategic location would bring higher footfall to the town 
centre. 

Page 7



Cabinet 8.11.2021

6

In response to a Member’s question, the Director (Corporate Services) advised that the 
Government had released an additional £4.8 billion for local authorities which was intended 
to cover the pay award for 2022-23 (not 2021-22), national living wage increases and 
increased national insurance contributions. Currently there had not been any announcement 
on how the money would be distributed between local authorities or if it would cover any 
social care costs; more information on the matter would be included in the provisional 
settlement announcement. 

Cllr Rolles praised the installation of the MOT lane and the Council becoming more 
entrepreneurial to generate more revenue that could be used to revitalise the Borough.  

In response to a question the Director (Environment) and Deputy Chief Executive advised 
that the MOT lane was working very effectively which meant that the Council’s fleet of 
vehicles could now be MOT’d in-house which was improving the efficiency of the vehicle 
workshop.   

Resolved that Cabinet:

1. Noted the information contained within the report 
2. Approved the addition of the St Georges Creative Hub to the current year capital 

programme as set out in sections 4.2 and 4.3 of this report 

53. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report - Quarter Two 
2021/22 

The Cabinet were presented with information on actual performance against the approved 
Revenue and Capital budgets for 2021/22, including known variances agreed or identified 
through budgetary control activity.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) directed Members to page 82 which held an 
executive summary of the report and highlighted key points concerning: 

 HRA (Revenue) 
 Housing Capital 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that as at the end of Q2 the HRA was 
expected to draw £417k from the HRA General Reserve. As reported at Q1 there was also a 
Vacancy Management favourable variance of £135K, which was due to a restructure within 
the Housing Team. However, it was not expected that the variance would increase as posts 
were expected to be filled. The table at paragraph 3.9.1, page 84, confirmed that the Council 
expected to maintain the £3m minimum working balance on the HRA as at the end of the 
financial year. 

Members were updated on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business 
Plan or Financial Statements.

Resolved that Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

Page 8



Cabinet 8.11.2021

7

54. Provision of Fixed Penalty Notice option for Household Duty of Care and 
Waste Carriage offences 

The Cabinet were informed of a gap within the organisation in relation to the enforcement of 
‘Household Duty of Care’ and ‘Waste Carriage’ offences. As it stood, Environmental 
Enforcement staff couldn’t issue Fixed Penalty Notices for failure of a householder in their 
duty of care or offences relating to the unlawful carriage of controlled waste. The Fixed 
Penalty Notice (FPN) provided an alternative to prosecution. It allowed an individual to 
discharge liability for the offence by payment of a financial penalty, which reduced reliance 
on court prosecution for small scale offences. 

The Cabinet were advised that currently delegated authority for changes to the 
environmental enforcement powers sat with Cabinet rather than the Director.

The Director (Communities) advised the Cabinet that a paragraph had been added to the 
report at 2.3 regarding victims of scams or false presentations as the Council were aware 
that some people were misled and taken advantage of, as they were vulnerable. Each case 
would be judged on its merits, a thorough investigation would be completed and leniency 
would be used for those vulnerable people but serious cases would still be dealt with through 
the courts.

The Chair voiced his approval for the introduction of fixed penalty notices as residents 
needed to be aware that fly-tippers would be found and would be prosecuted and it would 
act as a deterrent to those who would willingly and knowingly fly-tip. 

Cllr Mochrie-Cox reiterated that officers could use their discretion and use their other powers 
such as warning notices for those vulnerable residents who had been misled but those who 
flagrantly fly-tipped or who were negligent to their duty of care would be taken to court. 

Members praised the report and addition of protections for vulnerable residents. 

Resolved that Cabinet: 

1. Approved the use of Fixed Penalty Notices for Household Duty of Care and 
Controlled Waste Carriage offences by Environmental Enforcement Team staff at the 
fine level proposed in item 1.12. 2. 

2. Gave delegated authority to Director (Communities) to exercise their powers in 
relation to environmental crime under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as 
amended), the Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989 (as amended) to facilitate 
the use of new enforcement tools as the legislation is updated

55. Grant for Electric Vehicle Chargepoints 

The Cabinet were informed of notification received confirming the award of grant funding for 
the installation of Electric Vehicle Charge Points (EVCP) aimed at residential use in Parrock 
Street Car Park.

The Director (Corporate Services) outlined the following key points: 

 External funding from OZEV had been secured by the Parking & Environmental 
Enforcement Services Manager to go towards the cost of ten dual outlet fast 

Page 9



Cabinet 8.11.2021

8

chargers to be installed in Parrock Street Car Park which would improve the offering 
of charging for residents in the Town Centre 

 The total project value for the ten chargers was costed by BP Pulse (BPP) at £127K 
and the bid for external grant funding from OZEV was £95K (75% of the total costs) 
which the Council was successful in bidding for 

 Under the existing hosting agreement, BPP would fund the remaining 25% of the 
total costs (£32K) meaning the project would be delivered at no extra cost to the 
Council 

 Due to the urgency of responding to the notification of grant award, Cllr Burden, Cllr 
Croxton and Cllr Meade were contacted at the time the decision to accept the award 
was taken by the Director (Corporate Services). 

The Chair agreed with the points raised and further explained the need for retrospective 
agreement. 

Resolved that Cabinet: 

1. Noted the grant award notification and ratified the decision to accept the award taken 
by the Director (Corporate Services), as notified to the Leader of the Executive, 
Deputy Leader of the Executive and Leader of the Opposition as Chair of the 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

2. Gave delegated authority to the Director (Communities) in consultation with the 
Director (Corporate Services) and Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services 
Manager to make the necessary arrangements for the installation of Electric Vehicle 
Charge Points (EVCP) aimed at residential use in Parrock Street Car Park

3. Approved the addition of the project to the current year capital programme, and 
recognised that the full cost of the project was to be met from external funding.

56. The Elizabeth Huggins Cottages Charity Housing Association 

Cllr Burden left the room for the duration of the item and Cllr Sullivan acted as Chair. 

The Cabinet’s approval and delegated authority was sought to enter in to a consortium 
agreement with The Elizabeth Huggins Cottages Charity Housing Association in order to 
access Homes England grant funding to help facilitate redevelopment of their site and 
increase affordable housing in the Borough for ex-military personnel.

The Director (Housing) advised that on 24 September 2021, Homes England confirmed that 
they had assessed the application submitted by Gravesham Borough Council on behalf of 
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages Charity Housing Association and awarded £500,000 to facilitate 
the planned redevelopment to increase affordable housing on the site through its
Affordable Homes Programme 2021 to 2026. As Elizabeth Huggins was unable to access 
the funding directly, Gravesham Borough Council was required to ensure that conditions 
attached to the grant funding were complied with. One of the conditions was that Gravesham 
Borough Council enters into a Consortium Agreement / Memorandum of Understanding with 
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages Charity Housing Association to administer the funds.

Resolved that Cabinet: 

1. Gave delegated authority to Director (Housing) in consultation with Deputy Leader of 
the Executive to enter in to a consortium agreement with The Elizabeth Huggins 
Cottages Charity Housing Association to access grant funding

Page 10



Cabinet 8.11.2021

9

2. Gave delegated authority to Director (Corporate Services) to adjust the Council's 
2021/22 Capital Programme to reflect the Homes England grant funding awarded.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:24pm. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 04 January 2022

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Cabinet with a copy of the annual review that has been 
conducted in respect of the Payroll Shared Service with Medway Council

Recommendations:
1. None - this paper is for information purposes only

1. Introduction

1.1 Since April 2017, the council has had in place a service arrangement with 
Medway Council for the provision of Payroll services. This involved the transfer of 
one Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) staff member who was employed within 
the Payroll Service at GBC to Medway Council.

1.2 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 22 June 2021), the annual review of the Payroll arrangement was 
undertaken in September/October 2021 and reported to the Gravesham Borough 
Council Management Team accordingly.

2. Annual Review

2.1 The revised Working in Partnership Framework introduced a new review 
document for Shared Services that have been operational for three years or more, 
to ensure that focus is on current working practices and procedures rather than 
looking back at objectives that were set during the arrangements inception.

2.2 As such, the review of the Payroll Shared Service uses the new review template; 
a copy of the final review document is attached at appendix two for Member 
perusal.

Page 13 Agenda Item 6



2

3. Background Papers

3.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 14



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The shared service arrangement was established with due regard to the following 
legislation:
1) Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to 

place any of its officers, who consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of 
another local authority on such terms as may be agreed between the parties, 
and

2) Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Authority 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012, 
which enables a local authority to delegate certain functions to another local 
authority.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

In respect of the 2021-22 financial year, the payment to Medway Council for the 
provision of Payroll Services was £40,000.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.  
The annual review and ongoing monitoring that takes place has shown that the 
service is meeting its objectives

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The delivery of a shared service contributes to objective number three:
Progress - an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment

Page 15

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Climate Change There are no specific climate change implications resulting from this report

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults’ implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 16



                    

Shared Service: Payroll

Shared service commenced: April 2017

Author: Lisa Nyon (Assistant Director, 
Corporate Services) / Sam 
Beckfarley (Medway Council)

Review Date: December 2021

Page 17



Appendix 2

2 | P a g e

Overview of the shared service arrangement:

Medway Council provides a monthly payroll service to Gravesham Borough Council, this includes the 
main payroll and election payroll. A Service Level Agreement (SLA) exists for the service however it has 
been recognised that this is in need of review and update.
Medway previously provided a HR service to GBC, however from 1st July the GBC HR function was 
brought in house. The HR Business Partner is currently reviewing the legacy services provided by 
Medway to determine what is needed going forward which may affect the payroll shared service. 
During the last 12 months Medway Council has undergone a staffing re-structure within the payroll 
function which has led to key personnel taking on differing roles and responsibilities within the service. 
This has not had a detrimental impact on the service that Medway are providing to Gravesham.
Gravesham currently has a dedicated payroll officer and a part-time team leader to oversee the service, 
however we have assurances that officers within the payroll structure are on hand to answer queries, 
should these officers become unavailable which builds resilience in the team.
The service from a Gravesham perspective is working well in that staff are paid accurately and on time. 
On occasion some officers have been underpaid due to sickness or holidays not being correctly 
reported/recorded. This is then followed up by a faster payment made by the finance team. Managers 
should promptly inform HR of any changes to the payroll, to ensure this is kept to a minimum. 
As mentioned below in the recommendations section. There has not been any reporting against KPI’s 
stipulated in the SLA and this should be done going forward as well as implementing new and 
meaningful objectives for the coming year.

Page 18



Appendix 2

3 | P a g e

Progress against objectives:

Objective Update

1 Resilience to the service provision; 
Employee’s, members and casuals (e.g. 
working on elections) paid on a monthly 
basis on specified date

The current structure supplied by 
Medway ensures that resilience has 
been built into the staffing structure of 
the payroll team.

2 Maintenance of integrated HR system and 
provision of access and information to 
support the HR function within GBC

This objective is in progress
The HR manager at GBC is currently 
reviewing HR requirements going 
forward following a restructure of 
GBC’s HR team.

3 Provision of Self-service function reducing 
administrative impact on HR

This objective is in progress.
The self-service function is not being 
used to its full potential. Currently only 
booking of leave is facilitated, however 
going forward it is hoped that SS4U will 
enable managers to record sickness 
absence on the system, this is to be 
taken forward by the team at Medway 
in the new year.

4 Provision of Pension administration 
service

The pension administration service is 
operating effectively

5 Provision of Financial reports which 
integrate with General Ledger

Objective has been met

Key Performance Measures:

Target 2020/21 Outturn 2020-21

1 There have been changes to the service 
during the year and there is a need to 
establish new and relevant KPI’s going 
forward. This is recorded in the 
recommendations section of this review.

Page 19



Appendix 2

4 | P a g e

Update against recommendations identified in previous year 
review:

Objective Update

1 There is a need to hold quarterly service 
review meetings and these should be 
established moving forward. This was 
delayed due to COVID 19 but will become 
even more critical moving forward due to 
the changes of responsible departments at 
Medway and planned development of the 
system.

A service review meeting was held in 
June 2021 between Medway payroll 
personnel and GBC and a follow up 
meeting was held in November 2021.
Further service review meetings will be 
diarised to take place quarterly, with 
additional meetings arranged as 
required to respond to specific activity 
such as updating the SLA

2 Following the upgrade and the staffing 
restructure a plan for the improvement of 
SS4U will be produced which aligns with 
the implementation plan.

This objective is in progress, however 
the facility to record sickness absence 
on SS4U will be taken forward in the 
new year.

Recommendations/Service Improvements for the coming year:

1 Review the SLA and agree any amendments to this.

2 To determine relevant KPI’s for the service going forward and ensure these are 
monitored on a regular basis.

3 Recommence quarterly meetings with the Medway Payroll Service.

4 Medway to develop a plan for improvement of SS4U and share with Gravesham for 
information and comment.

5 GBC to remind managers of the importance of getting timely and accurate 
information to HR before payroll cut off dates.

Page 20



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 4 January 2022

Reporting officer: Director (Communities)
Lead Safeguarding Officer

Subject: Updated Safeguarding Policy 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present an updated version of the Council's Safeguarding Policy.

Recommendations:
1. That Cabinet agree the revised Safeguarding Policy.

1. Policy Updates

1.1 The Council’s Safeguarding Policy requires regular update to reflect any changes 
in legislation and procedure. A revised Safeguarding Policy is attached as 
Appendix 2.

1.2 The policy has been given a general refresh, with a few key changes to note:

Policy Aims and Scope

1.3 Additional information has been included in this section, specifically at paragraphs 
2.5 to 2.7 which clarify the Council’s responsibilities towards all adults, survivors of 
domestic abuse and those with no recourse to public funds.

1.4 In line with the 2018 update of the Working Together to Safeguard Children 
guidance, Kent Safeguarding Children Board (KSCB) has now become the Kent 
Safeguarding Children Multi-Agency Partnership (KSCMP) with the Police and 
Health Services taking a shared lead role alongside Kent County Council. 

Roles and Responsibilities

1.5 There is now a table of roles and responsibilities at paragraph 4.2 to clarify how 
the Safeguarding agenda impacts each officer and Member.  

Page 21 Agenda Item 7



2

Reporting Procedure

1.6 The reporting process has been updated to include the Lead Safeguarding Officer 
role. Links to the relevant referral forms and a Safeguarding Concern DASH form 
are included within the reporting procedure in paragraph 6.6.

1.7 Changes to the process in the case of an allegation against a council officer; The 
LADO (Local Authority Designated Officer) service previously existed to support 
organisations in the case of an allegation against a staff member, but now that 
only exists in the case of concerns that may put a child/children at risk, not adults. 
Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board has now produced a document to 
guide organisations through the use of their own policies and procedures, 
including referrals to statutory services where necessary.

1.8 Appendix 3 has been updated to add the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 to the list of 
relevant legislation.

1.9 Appendix 4 now recognises, under HR responsibilities, the training of staff 
including new starters into the organisation.

1.10 The graphic at Appendix 6 has been amended to summarise reporting procedures 
and Safeguarding Champions.  This will be made available to staff.

1.11 Safeguarding Champions have been updated in Appendix 8.  

2. Practical implications for the Council

2.1 The updated Policy continues the role of Safeguarding Champions within each 
department of the Council. This role is further utilised in the Council’s approach to 
addressing Modern Slavery, with the Safeguarding Champions soon being trained 
in completing NRM (National Referral Mechanism) referrals for victims of Modern 
Slavery to create a pool of officers able to do this critical work. 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 The revised Safeguarding Policy 2021 is attached as Appendix 2.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 22



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018) document and the Care Act 
(2014) place a statutory on local authorities to follow Safeguarding procedures. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

No additional funding is required 

Risk Assessment Safeguarding legislation requires certain responsibilities to be fulfilled as a 
minimum and that due regard be given to Government guidance issued in carrying 
out duties.  Failure to discharge the duty imposed may result in the Secretary of 
State giving directions for the purpose of enforcing the performance of the duty.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No, this policy aims to reduce adverse impacts on vulnerable groups

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes. This policy directly supports equality by promoting the safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable adults 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The policy outlines how the Council will achieve an element of Strategic Objective 1 
from the Corporate Plan; People: Safeguard Residents

Climate Change n/a

Crime and Disorder Protecting Vulnerable People and Strengthening Communities

Digital and website 
implications

n/a

Page 23

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

This Safeguarding Policy sets out how children and vulnerbale adults are to be 
safeguarded.

Page 24



Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

Gravesham Borough Council

Safeguarding Policy 

Page 25



2

Contents 

Section Title 

1. Executive Summary 

2. Policy Aims and Scope 

3. Recognising Abuse 

4. Roles and Responsibilities 

5. Partnership Working 

6. Reporting Procedure 

7. Safeguarding Data Management 

8.

Appendices:
1: Glossary of terms 
2: A guide to types of abuse 
3: Legislative framework 
4: Service responsibilities 
5: Photography and filming consent form 
6: Reporting procedure 
7: Notification and referral forms  
8: Accountability framework - key contacts 

Page 26



Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

1.Executive Summary 

1.1. Overview 
The safeguarding of all children and vulnerable adults within Gravesham is a 
fundamental principle in the delivery of all council services. 

All children and vulnerable adults have the right to live their lives to the fullest potential, 
to be protected, to have the opportunity to participate in and enjoy any activity, and to be 
treated with dignity and respect. Gravesham Borough Council has both a moral and 
legal obligation to ensure the safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults across its 
services and this Safeguarding Policy sets out the council’s ambition to this agenda. 

1.2 Aim 
The ultimate aim of this policy, and its associated procedures, is to help protect and 
promote the welfare of all children and vulnerable adults within the borough that come 
into contact with council services, whilst ensuring the council meets its statutory 
safeguarding responsibilities. 

To achieve this aim, this policy provides council officers, elected Members and volunteers 
with a sound understanding of their Safeguarding responsibilities and the support to 
recognise and respond to concerns via the council’s adopted reporting procedures.

1.3 Delivery 
This policy outlines how, on an operational level, Gravesham Borough Council will 
ensure the Safeguarding agenda is a primary consideration for all employees and 
corporate decision making. Practically this will be delivered by a number of 
commitments made by Gravesham Borough Council to this agenda which include: 

• Partnership working: Case studies in the Safeguarding agenda have revealed the 
complexity of deciding when and how to intervene to protect and promote the 
welfare of children and vulnerable adults. Recommendations from these studies 
have highlighted that successful intervention depends on robust interagency 
partnership working between district council services, children and adult social 
services, police, health, the family justice system and the voluntary sector. 
Gravesham Borough Council is committed to working in partnership with all key 
stakeholders to safeguard all vulnerable local residents.

• Training and Raising Awareness: This policy aims to ensure that an overarching 
approach to safeguarding is embedded within all council services and that 
employees, members, those delivering contracts on behalf of the council and 
volunteers understand their role and responsibilities in supporting all residents to live 
a life free from abuse, exploitation and intimidation. A rolling programme of online 
and face-to-face training available to all officers and members.

Page 27



4

2.Policy Aims and Scope 

2.1 Policy aims 

The aims of this policy are that; 

o The council’s approach and commitment to the safeguarding agenda are embedded 
across the organisation, through considering the needs of the residents and ensuring 
their voices are heard and included in future plans; 

o All children or vulnerable adults that access services organised and delivered by 
Gravesham Borough Council are protected against abuse, neglect and/or exploitation 
to the extent of the council’s knowledge, control and influence. 

2.2 Policy scope 

This policy covers all council functions and services and the operations of partners, 
contractors and voluntary organisations that deliver services on its behalf. The council 
recognises that everyone has a responsibility for safeguarding children and protecting 
vulnerable adults. 

Work that addresses the Safeguarding agenda has a wide reach across council services. 
This would include completing an urgent referral to social services to report a disclosure 
of abuse; action to address damp and mould in a property that a vulnerable adult will be 
living and breathing in; including green space in a development to ensure the children 
living in the future development have somewhere to play outside (leading to a number of 
positive health outcomes), recognising the signs of modern slavery in a local business 
and working with our partner agencies to support the victims and address the wider 
criminality. The pandemic response to support vulnerable residents can be viewed as a 
large-scale Safeguarding effort - ensuring residents receive sustenance and protecting 
their health by supporting them to stay away from places they could catch coronavirus. 

Safeguarding pledge: 

As we are made aware, we will ensure that any children or vulnerable adults that 
access services organised and delivered by Gravesham Borough Council are 
protected, kept safe from harm and wherever possible have the support they need 
to make the choices they want. 

We believe that safeguarding is everybody’s responsibility and we will work with all 
residents, partner agencies, contractors and volunteers to fulfil this pledge. 

Where there is a conflict of agendas, the welfare of the child or vulnerable adult is 
paramount.

Page 28



Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

2.3 Children 

Safeguarding is a term that covers a wide range of activity with the purpose of protecting 
children and vulnerable adults from harm, and promoting their welfare. The definition of a 
child for the purposes of Safeguarding includes any child or young person up to the age 
of 18 years old. The Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018) guidance defines 
Safeguarding children as: 

• protecting children from maltreatment;

• preventing impairment of children’s mental and physical health or development;

• ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe 
and effective care;

• taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes.

2.4 Adults

Adult Safeguarding is concerned with addressing the priorities above, but has a slightly 
different approach at times given the ultimate right of an adult to make their own 
decisions about their lives. It is defined in the Care Act (2014) as:

“Protecting an adult’s right to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect. It is about 
people and organisations working together to prevent and stop both the risks and 
experience of abuse or neglect, while at the same time making sure that the adult’s 
wellbeing is promoted including, where appropriate, having regard to their views, wishes, 
feelings and beliefs in deciding on any action. This must recognise that adults sometimes 
have complex interpersonal relationships and may be ambivalent, unclear or unrealistic 
about their personal circumstances.”

2.5 What defines a “Vulnerable Adult”?

It is important to note that the role of Safeguarding as it applies to adults is focused on 
‘vulnerable’ adults. The Care Act (2014) defines this as any person aged 18 or above 
who:

1. Has needs for care and support (regardless of the level of need and whether or not 
these needs are being met),

2. Is experiencing, or is at risk of abuse or neglect, and
3. As a result of those needs, is unable to protect themselves against the abuse or 

neglect or the risk of it.

As it is not always obvious if a person has care and support needs, concerns about any 
adult (or child) who is at risk of abuse or exploitation should be raised with a line 
manager/safeguarding leads as per Safeguarding procedures. The level of support they 
may be able to access may depend on whether or not they meet the definition for a 
‘vulnerable adult’. 

Page 29



6

2.6 Domestic Abuse survivors 

The Domestic Abuse Act of 2021 recognised that victims of domestic abuse have an 
additional need for protection and support, whether or not they have additional care 
needs. The Act has placed a duty on local authorities in England to provide 
accommodation based support to victims of domestic abuse and their children in refuges 
and other safe accommodation.

2.7 No Recourse To Public Funds (NRPF) status

This policy covers all children and vulnerable adults whether or not they are entitled to 
access public funds. No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) status is a standard 
condition applied to many people in the UK with a temporary immigration status, which 
blocks access to specific benefits to themselves and their children. However social 
services support is not classed as a public fund for immigration purposes, and 
safeguarding legislation and procedures still apply. Whatever an individual’s immigration 
status may be, their human rights remain, and local government’s responsibility to 
safeguard children and vulnerable adults remains. 

2.8 Lead agencies

The council recognises that the Kent Safeguarding Children Multi-Agency Partnership, 
Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board, Kent County Council and the Police are 
the lead agencies in the Borough with regard to the protection of children and vulnerable 
adults and will work with these agencies and, where relevant, their associated procedures 
to deliver on its ‘Safeguarding pledge’.

3.Recognising Abuse 

3.1 In order to identify situations that present a safeguarding concern, staff will have an 
understanding of the main types of abuse that may be impacting children and adults in the 
borough. 

The four main types of abuse of children are:

 Physical abuse – non accidental infliction of physical force that results, or could 
result, in bodily injury, pain or impairment; 

 Sexual abuse - forcing or enticing participation in sexual activities (regardless of 
whether or not the child or young person is aware of what is happening);

Page 30



Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

 Emotional abuse - persistent emotional maltreatment; 

 Neglect - persistent failure to meet basic physical and/or psychological needs. 

Children may also need protection from a wider range of often community-based abuse, 
including:

 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) - Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual 
abuse. It occurs where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of 
power to coerce, manipulate, deceive or force a child or young person under the age 
of 18 into sexual activity (a) in exchange for something the victim needs or wants, 
and/or (b) for the financial advantage or increased status of the perpetrator or 
facilitator;

 Criminal Exploitation  - a young person or adult at risk of being groomed into 
undertaking criminal activities, such as drug dealing/trafficking and working in 
cannabis farms, etc. It is often perpetrated by an adult through the threat or use of 
violence;

 Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) –  a collective term for illegal procedures which 
include the removal of part/all external female genitalia for cultural or other non-
therapeutic reasons.

3.2 The same types of abuse can also impact adults, although some tend to be specific to 
adults. These include:

 Physical abuse - non accidental infliction of physical force that results, or could result, 
in bodily injury, pain or impairment;

 Sexual abuse - involvement, either direct or indirect, in sexual activity without 
consent. It could also be the inability to consent, pressured or induced to consent or 
take part;

 Emotional or psychological abuse - acts or behaviour which impinge on emotional 
health or, which cause distress or anguish;

 Financial abuse - unauthorised, fraudulent obtaining and/or improper use of funds, 
property or any resources;

 Neglect, wilful neglect and acts of omission - ignoring or withholding physical or 
medical care needs;

 Discriminatory abuse - values, beliefs or culture result in a misuse of power that 
denies mainstream opportunities. It includes discrimination on the basis of race, sex, 
age, sexuality, disability or religion, or any of the other protected characteristics; 

 Institutional or Organisational abuse - an organisation imposing rigid and insensitive 
routines; poor practices embedded in systems; unskilled, intrusive or invasive 
interventions, or an environment allowing inadequate privacy or physical comfort;

Page 31



8

 Self-neglect – A wide range of behaviour including neglecting to care for one’s 
personal hygiene, health or surroundings and behaviour such as hoarding.

Other safeguarding concerns impacting adults include:

 Domestic abuse 
Domestic Abuse is defined as “any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, 
coercive, threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over 
who are, or have been, intimate partners or family members regardless of gender or 
sexuality. The abuse can encompass, but is not limited to psychological, physical, 
sexual, financial, emotional abuse.”

 Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking 
Involves the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of people 
who, with the threat or use of force, coercion, abduction, abuse of power or 
deception are exploited for the purposes of prostitution, forced labour, slavery, 
forced criminality or other similar practices. Victims are trafficked all over the world, 
including in and around the UK, and even throughout the borough.

Under the Modern Slavery Act 2015 the council has a duty to notify the National 
Referral Mechanism (a Home Office body) of potential victims of Modern Slavery 
and Human Trafficking. The council is also expected to exercise due diligence to 
ensure that modern slavery is not present in within its own workforce or within any of 
its supply chains as a matter of good practice.

 Forced marriage
A Forced Marriage “is a marriage conducted without the valid consent of both 
parties, where duress is a factor” (’A Choice by Right’ HM Government 2000). It is 
illegal under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 for any person 
to:
a) use violence, threats or any other form of coercion for the purposes of causing 
another person to enter into a marriage; and
b) believe, or ought reasonably to believe, that the conduct may cause the other 
person to enter into the marriage without free and full consent.
Duress can involve physical, psychological, sexual, financial and/or emotional 
pressure.

3.3 Anyone can carry out abuse or neglect; partners, other family members, neighbours, 
friends, acquaintances, and local residents, organised gangs, paid officers or 
professionals, volunteers and strangers. It is important to remember that a 
vulnerable adult may be abused by another vulnerable adult, and equally, a child or 
young person may be abused by another child or young person. 

Page 32



Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

4.Roles and Responsibilities

4.1 Everyone has a responsibility to ensure that concerns about the potential abuse of 
children and vulnerable adults are addressed. The lead agency for managing both 
child and adult protection in Kent is Kent County Council’s Social Services. 
Gravesham Borough Council, in fulfilling its statutory duties, works in partnership with 
Kent County Council to identify, refer and respond to suspected abuse, and to provide 
additional support as required. 

4.2 In order to ensure the Safeguarding agenda is embedded throughout the council, 
there are a range of responsibilities shared across different roles:

Role Responsibilities

Chief Executive 
Officer

 Raise the profile and embed safeguarding processes, 
support the policy and promote the development of services 
to ensure the protection of children and adults at risk within 
the borough.

 Corporate Management Team will commit to a resource of 
relevant officers to act as the council’s ‘Safeguarding 
Champions’ for their respective areas

 Allocate resources to enable responsibilities to be met.

Designated 
Safeguarding 
Lead /  Lead 
Safeguarding 
Officer

 Development of policy and strategy, issuing operational 
guidance, promoting good practice and making policy 
recommendations to Senior Leadership Team.

 Ensure the Corporate Management Team is effectively 
briefed on the safeguarding agenda

 Ensure safeguarding training is available to meet 
requirements and the needs of staff. 

 Representative at multi-agency safeguarding meetings.
 Work with key officers to deliver relevant Safeguarding 

responsibilities
 Provide advice and guidance to staff regarding safeguarding 

concerns.
 Provide advice and guidance to HR in the event of an 

allegation of abuse made against a member of staff
 Co-ordinate requests for information regarding Serious Adult 

Reviews, Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews, Partnership 
Learning Reviews, Section 47 and Section 17 enquiries, 
Section 11 Audit.

 Offer advice and assistance to Members and support 
Members to make safeguarding referrals as appropriate.

Community 
Safety Unit / 

 Provide advice and guidance to staff regarding safeguarding 
concerns.

Page 33



10

Safeguarding 
Champions

 Offer advice and assistance to Members and support 
Members to make safeguarding referrals as appropriate.

 Representative at multi-agency safeguarding meetings
 Complete NRM referrals for victims of Modern Slavery as 

appropriate

Human 
Resources

 Manage the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) process 
in conjunction with recruiting managers.

 Make a referral to the Local Authority Designated Officer 
(LADO) when a member of staff has acted in a way which 
may have harmed a child, in liaison with the Designated 
Safeguarding Lead.

 Inform Designated Safeguarding Officer and Lead 
Safeguarding Officer if an allegation is received that a 
member of staff has acted in a way that has harmed an 
adult. KMSAB guidance to be followed.

 Ensure delivery of corporate safeguarding training to all staff, 
including new starters.

Managers  Support staff to recognise and understand their roles and 
responsibilities. 

 Ensure staff have read, understood and signed their 
acknowledgment of this Policy and the associated 
procedures of reporting safeguarding concerns

 Provide suitable supervision to staff dealing with 
safeguarding concerns.

 Consider safeguarding implications when developing policies 
and procedures, procuring services on behalf of the council 
and in their decision making processes.

 Ensure staff are appropriately trained and aware of their 
responsibilities.

 Identify training needs of staff to support them to undertake 
their duties.

 Ensure contractors have the appropriate safeguarding 
policies in place.

 Ensure volunteers working on behalf of the council are aware 
of their safeguarding responsibilities.

 Ensure reference to the DBS Guide to Eligibility to assess 
whether a role requires a DBS

All employees  Ensure safeguarding training is undertaken to an appropriate 
level.

 Comply with the Safeguarding Policy and procedures.
 Report any concerns through the appropriate referral 

process.
 Report allegations against a member of staff or volunteer 

through the council’s Whistleblowing Procedure.

Consultants, 
Contractors, 
Agency staff

 Compliance with council’s Safeguarding Policy and 
procedures.

 Reporting of any concerns through the appropriate referral 
process.

 Reporting of allegations against a member of staff through 
the council’s Whistleblowing Procedure

Page 34



Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

Lead Member for 
Safeguarding 

 Ensure safeguarding training is undertaken to an appropriate 
level.

 Approve Safeguarding Policy and procedures.
 Report any concerns through the appropriate referral 

process. 
 Promoting the safeguarding agenda 

All Members  All elected Members are expected to attend relevant 
safeguarding training. This will be, as a minimum, one 
session for each Member during each administration period. 

 Report any concerns through the appropriate referral 
process. 

4.3 All external organisations and contractors providing services to and on behalf of the 
council are required to comply with the council’s Safeguarding Policy. Where 
appropriate they should have their own Safeguarding Policy and procedures in place 
that adhere to the KSCMP and KMSAB guidelines. 

4.4 Service design

In determining and reviewing corporate policy and ultimately future service delivery, 
all consultations and performance monitoring activity affecting children or vulnerable 
adults will be undertaken using methods that are accessible and appropriate to 
account for their views in shaping the service design process. In addition, all reports 
presented to Cabinet and Corporate Management Team for a decision will include the 
safeguarding agenda as a key consideration.

4.5 Safe recruitment practices

The council’s Code of Conduct for Employees outlines that: “the council expects and 
obtains high standards from its employees because council services can affect the 
health, wealth and well-being of local people.” The council will therefore adopt safe 
recruitment practices to reduce the likelihood of recruiting unsuitable officers. This 
includes:

 The principle of safe recruitment will also be applied to any contract drawn up 
between the council and contractors or agencies that provide council services 
for, or adults to work with, children and vulnerable adults [see paragraph 
5.2.8]. 

 Ensuring that a statement about the organisation’s commitment to 
safeguarding is included in all appropriate recruitment and selection 
materials, including reference to regular Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) checks for relevant posts.

 Appropriate levels of DBS checks obtained whenever applicable as 
determined by legislation and supporting government guidance.1  

Page 35



12

Satisfactory explanations for any gaps in employment will be sought.  
References will always be obtained direct from the referee.

4.6 Training provision: 

Gravesham Borough Council officers: 
In order to ensure compliance with statutory responsibilities, officers identified by the 
council’s Human Resources Team whose service, or with the responsibility of 
commissioning a service, provides access to children and vulnerable adults shall 
have appropriate and regular training on safeguarding matters, in keeping with the 
requirements of the Kent Safeguarding Children Board. Training may include internal 
courses/workshops, externally accredited courses/seminars or workshops organised 
by relevant agencies, and will be proportionate to the level of responsibilities and the 
role of each officer. The council’s Human Resources Team will keep a record of all 
officers and volunteers who have received relevant training.

• Refresher training relating to this policy and the associated procedures will be 
provided to all identified officers every two years or with immediate effect due to 
legislative requirements, whichever is sooner.

• Accredited training for the Designated Safeguarding Officer and appointed 
Safeguarding Officer(s) to ensure compliance with the required s11 standards, as 
identified by the Kent Safeguarding Children Multi-Agency Partnership.

4.7 Publicity

All photographers working on behalf of the council will seek verbal permission from a 
parent or guardian to take close up photographs/film footage of children under the 
age of 18 participating in council events. Wherever possible written permission should 
be sought; a photography and filming consent form is available at Appendix 5. In 
complying with data protection regulations, any participant will be informed as to how 
their image is to be used and how long it will be maintained. 

Schools that are taking part in council organised events such as parades will be 
informed that photographers and press will be present and that photographs will be 
made available for publicity purposes. It is assumed that participating schools will 
seek parental permission before attending.

An exception to the above will be open invite community events where it is not 
possible to get comprehensive prior consent. In such instances visible signs will be 
established advising attendees that photography and/or filming is being carried out 
that could be used for publicity purposes. 
Regardless of the route of consent, the council recognises the right of a participant to 
withdraw consent for the use of their image at a later point. 

Website Hub: The council is committed to advertising the safeguarding agenda. 
Through its web-hub internet page, users can access the council’s Safeguarding 
Policy and adopted reporting procedure, as well as details of key external agencies 
and wider content relating to the agenda.

Page 36



Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

5. Partnership Working 
5.1 Due to the often hidden and complex nature of abuse, neglect, and community-

based exploitation, partnership working is a critical element of Safeguarding. No 
single professional can have a full picture of a child’s needs and circumstances and, 
if children, families and vulnerable adults are to receive the right help at the right 
time, everyone who comes into contact with them has a role to play in identifying 
concerns, sharing information and taking prompt action. Many serious case reviews 
have shown that a lack of partnership working between organisations has meant that 
serious safeguarding issues were not identified or acted on appropriately and the 
worst has happened. As a result, working in partnership with other organisations and 
sharing information when there are safeguarding concerns, is extremely important.     

5.2 Kent Safeguarding Children Multi-Agency Partnership (KSCMP)

The Children and Social Work Act (2017), section 16, requires a Safeguarding 
Partnership to be established in each area led by three safeguarding partners; 

 Local Authority (Kent County Council) 
 Police
 Health  

They must make arrangements to work together with relevant agencies (as they 
consider appropriate) to safeguard and protect the welfare of children in the area. 
Within Kent, these responsibilities are met through the Kent Safeguarding Children 
Multi-Agency Partnership (KSCMP) of which Gravesham Borough Council is a 
represented Member. 

KSCMP provide training across a wide range of Safeguarding topics, provide 
guidance for professionals and partner agencies, create the Child Protection 
Procedures, monitor partner agencies for compliance, and more. Please see their 
website https://www.kscmp.org.uk/ for further information. 

5.3 Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board (KMSAB)

KMSAB co-ordinate adult safeguarding across the county (including Medway). The 
statutory agencies that comprise the KMSAB are:

 Medway Council

Page 37

https://www.kscmp.org.uk/


14

 Kent County Council
 Kent Police
 NHS Kent and Medway Clinical Commissioning Groups

Partner agencies are also part of the board and its working groups, including District 
council representation.

The key principles that underpin all of Gravesham Borough Council’s adult 
safeguarding work as defined by the government are: 

• Empowerment – Personalisation and the presumption of person-led 
decisions and informed consent;

• Prevention – It is better to take action before harm occurs;
• Proportionality – Proportionate and least intrusive response appropriate to 

the risk presented;
• Protection – Support and representation for those in greatest need;
• Partnership – Local solutions through services working with their 

communities. Communities have a part to play in preventing, detecting and 
reporting neglect and abuse; and

• Accountability – Accountability and transparency in delivering safeguarding.

5.4 In delivering operational activities, the council will also contribute to relevant themed 
working groups and forums e.g. Domestic Abuse Forum. These bring together 
officers across the council and partner agencies that are most likely to encounter 
safeguarding issues in their day-to-day work with the aim of ensuring the council fully 
considers its safeguarding responsibilities. 

5.5 External arrangements: The council's Working in Partnership Framework sets out that 
before entering into any formal partnership working commitment, where it is relevant 
a key consideration should be how the establishment of the arrangement is likely to 
aid the council in fulfilling its statutory safeguarding responsibilities. 

Organisations that are grant-aided by the council to deliver projects with a direct 
impact on children or vulnerable adults, will be required to demonstrate that they have 
in place appropriate safeguarding arrangements as a condition of financial support. 

5.6 Reporting arrangements: The council maintains an adopted Corporate Complaints 
and Whistleblowing Policy to encourage and enable individuals to feel confident in 
raising concerns. For any safeguarding concerns relating to a fellow council officer or 
elected Member or contractor officers should refer to the council’s Whistleblowing 
Policy and its reporting procedure to identify a suitable route for their concern. 

5.7 Personal information: Where in line with formally adopted protocols and government 
advice, any request for information made to the council will be received as openly as 
possible. If information can be shared for the purposes of safeguarding an individual, 
it will be shared. 

5.8 Commissioned services and contractors: 
Commissioned services: In acknowledgement of the council’s procurement 
procedures, any officer seeking to procure or commission a service with a direct 
impact on children or vulnerable adults will outline in the appropriate tender 
specification/Service Level Agreement the requirement for details of relevant 

Page 38



Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

safeguarding arrangements and polices for review in the determining of their relevant 
tender application/business case. On nominating the successful tender, the council 
will specify within the appropriate contract the requirement for the service provider to 
adhere to the provisions as set out in this policy (e.g. reporting concerns), along with 
relevant checks relating to other safeguarding concerns e.g. right to reside in the UK. 

6. Reporting Procedure
 
6.1 This Safeguarding Policy is designed to empower employees, elected Members, 

contractors and volunteers to carry out their roles effectively. Whatever happens as a 
result of the reporting procedures detailed below should reflect an individual’s wishes 
wherever possible, and be in their best interests if they are not able to make the 
decision, whilst being proportionate to the level of concern. 

6.2 It is important that stakeholders in this agenda understand that abuse is a complex 
issue and that validating allegations of abuse is not the role of council employees or 
Members. The role of employees, Members and all related representatives of the 
council, is to: 
• Recognise concerns as they are identified;
• Report concerns to line managers inside 2 hours or in a case of immediate harm 

to contact emergency services;
• Refer to the relevant agency on the same day;
• Record incidents to facilitate investigations; and
• Respond to requests for information and involvement in case reviews.

6.3 What should be considered and reported? 
Every reported incident of abuse, suspected abuse, or general safeguarding concern 
must be taken seriously and addressed and reported with immediate urgency. 

Safeguarding queries are likely to fall into the following two areas: 

6.4 General safeguarding concerns: In carrying out their frontline activities, officers may 
suspect abuse of a child or vulnerable adult has or could take place, based upon 
relevant intelligence they have gathered e.g. the living conditions identified within a 
resident's home that could indicate the neglect of a child. 

6.5 Disclosures of abuse: A child or vulnerable adult may confide to a council employee 
or Member that they are being abused or mistreated – this is known as a ‘disclosure’. 
In addition, other residents who may suspect that abuse is occurring to a child or 
vulnerable adult may also confide in a council employee. Appendix 7 to this policy 

Page 39



16

provides guidance on administering public disclosures before accessing the reporting 
procedure. 

Allegations against officers: 
Any concerns about the welfare of a child or vulnerable adult arising from alleged 
abuse by an employee or Member of the council must be reported immediately to the 
HR team which will lead an investigation in consultation with the Chief Executive, 
Designated Safeguarding Officer and KCC Local Authority Designated Officer 
(LADO) in the case of a child. 

In the case of alleged abuse in the case of an adult, HR will immediately notify the 
CEO, Designated Safeguarding Officer and Lead Safeguarding Officer, who will 
make an immediate report to Adult Social Care under section 42 of the Care Act. 
Please see The KMSAB guidance ‘Managing Concerns around People in Positions 
of Trust” for further information.

. 
The allegation could come from a member of the public, service user or be reported 
by a fellow employee. It can often be difficult to report a fellow employee, but in line 
with the council’s Whistleblowing Policy and Corporate Complaint principles, the 
council will fully support and protect anyone who reports their concerns about a 
colleague’s practice or the possibility that a child or vulnerable adult may be being 
abused or harassed. False allegations do sometimes occur. However, if a child or 
vulnerable adult indicates they have been abused, or information suggests abuse, 
this should never be ignored. 

6.6 How should concerns be reported? 

If a child or vulnerable adult is injured, in imminent risk of harm or danger, the Police should 
always be contacted immediately on 999. Only after the safety of a child or vulnerable adult 
has been secured should the procedure detailed at Appendix 6 be completed. 

An officer with a Safeguarding concern must report this to their Line Manager 
immediately. They should complete a referral to Social Services, the Police, or 
another agency if required. The officer should then complete the DASH form available 
on the staff intranet within the same day. If the officer’s Line Manager is not available, 
they should contact another manager within their department, or directly contact the 
Lead Safeguarding Officer/ the council’s Safeguarding Champions Group as time is of 
the essence. 

This contact should include the details of an incident/general enquiry. As required, the 
Lead Safeguarding Officer/ the council’s Safeguarding Champions Group will provide 
supporting evidence, relevant case details and a recommended course of action for 
the originator to pursue, in line with Appendix 6. 

If a referral is required, the officer will be responsible for completing this with as much 
information as possible. They will be supported in doing so by the Lead Safeguarding 
Officer/Community Safety Managers. The officer is also responsible for following the 
referral up if they have not had a response within 72 hours. 

• Kent Child Safeguarding Referral Form Once you/your line manager have decided 
to make a formal referral, following consultation with the Safeguarding Champions 
and, potentially, the Kent County Council Central Duty Team, the Child Protection 
Form must then be completed and forwarded to the Kent County Council Central 
Duty Team within two working days.

Page 40

https://kccchildrens.kent.gov.uk/web/portal/pages/supporttypeprofessional


Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

• Kent Adult Safeguarding Alert Form: Once you/your line manager have decided to 
make a referral following consultation with the Safeguarding Champions and, 
potentially, the Kent County Council Central Duty Team, this form is to be used to 
report concerns of possible adult abuse against an individual.

Completion of this process for all reports will ensure the council has a rigorous 
audit trail of all cases as presented for any potential future use e.g. a Serious Case 
Review. The Lead Safeguarding Officer will maintain a secure ‘Safeguarding Log’ 
of all records referred to the Safeguarding Champions. 

6.7 If your line manager or the Safeguarding Champions do not agree with you that 
anything further needs to be done but you still have strong concerns that a child or 
vulnerable adult is in danger, you should still contact Kent County these agencies in 
line with their procedures. Council and in some cases the Police. The council will 
co-operate fully with any investigation carried out by these agencies.

6.8 Please be aware that it is always better to share a concern, even if it seems small 
or silly. Please listen to your instincts, if something feels wrong then please raise it.  

6.9 Consent in sharing concerns 
As this Policy makes clear, the welfare of children and vulnerable adults is the 
paramount concern. In this respect therefore, any disclosure from a child or 
vulnerable adult or concern raised by an employee must be acted upon by referral to 
the appropriate agency. A child or vulnerable adult seeking to make a direct 
disclosure to a council officer should be advised from the outset that, due to the 
council’s statutory requirements, it will not be possible to maintain confidentiality and 
that the relevant information will, ultimately, be shared with appropriate agencies.  
Kent County Council a lead body for investigating referrals has formal procedures and 
guidelines in place for involving parents / guardians and carers in those investigations 
where necessary. 

Where a child or vulnerable adult is perceived to be at risk of harm, seeking consent 
to share confidential information for referral purposes, although an ideal, is not 
required. In those more acute cases for example, officers are not expected to discuss 
their concerns in the first instance with parents or carers for the following reasons: 
• to do so may actually place the individual at even greater risk, particularly 

where it is suspected that a parent or carer may be responsible for the 
abuse; 

• to do so may compromise the investigation by KCC or a criminal 
investigation; or 

• to do so may put the employee at risk.

7.Safeguarding Data Management 
7.1 The sensitive nature of the Safeguarding agenda ensures that it is essential all 

personal and case history details are maintained accurately to complete a formal 
audit trail. This approach will enable managers to look for past incidents, concerns, 
risks and patterns of behaviour for use in possible future Serious Case Reviews for 
example. 

Page 41

http://www.kent.gov.uk/social-care-and-health/information-for-professionals/adult-protection/adult-protection-forms-and-policies/adult-protection-forms


18

7.2 The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018 
(DPA) set out the legal requirement for the processing of personal data. Article 5 of 
the GDPR sets out seven key principles for the processing of personal data:

• lawfulness, fairness and transparency;
• purpose limitation;
• data minimisation;
• accuracy;
• storage limitation;
• integrity and confidentiality (security); and 
• accountability

7.3 In holding and exchanging information with other bodies/departments during the 
exercise of the functions under this Policy, officers are required to act in accordance 
with the provisions of the General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act, 
albeit the regulations must not be used as an obstacle (see paragraph 7.7 on data 
sharing). For clarity, queries can be addressed by the council’s Data Protection Officer. 

7.4 To ensure an effective audit trail is established, all copies of the following 
information and documentation are required to be presented to the council’s 
Safeguarding Officers, electronically via the Safeguarding Champions, for any reported 
suspicion/allegation or safeguarding concern: 

• Any relevant notes, memoranda, telephone transcripts or other correspondence 
dealing with the case, or other relevant historical information;

• Any formal written report/email to management;
• Any formal referral notice;
• Any decision received regarding referral notification (Kent County Council Central 

Duty Team etc.); and
• Any other relevant materials that evidence the actions taken by Gravesham 

Borough Council officers (inc. decision on sharing information with another agency 
on a case). 

7.5 In line with adopted statutory guidance relating to data protection, on receipt of the 
sources of intelligence listed under paragraph 7.4 all records will be assigned to a secure 
database, accessible to the Safeguarding Champions. All records will be kept secure at 
all times and maintained in line with the timescales adopted by the council’s Records 
Retention Schedule.

7.6 Documents associated with allegations against an officer will be kept according to 
adopted HR policies. 

7.7 Data sharing 
What information can be requested and what can be shared? 
7.7.1 Statutory requirements: Gravesham Borough Council has a duty to share 
information with other agencies if requested in connection with an assessment of a 
child’s needs under s17 of the Children Act (1989), or an enquiry under s47 of that 
Act, or in connection with court proceedings. This equally applies in the case of a 
vulnerable adult where for example under s45 of the Care Act (2014) information 
must be supplied on request to the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board in 
consideration of a Serious Case Review. 

Page 42



7: Safeguarding data administration 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

7.7.2 Cases of serious or immediate harm: The legal principle that ‘the welfare of a 
child or vulnerable adult is paramount’ means that the considerations of 
confidentiality, under the GDPR for example, that might apply to other situations 
within the council, should not be allowed to override the right of a child or vulnerable 
adult to be protected from harm. 

Data protection restrictions between relevant agencies should not be an obstacle if: 
• You have immediate concerns about the welfare of a child or vulnerable adult; 

• You disclose information to social services or to another professional; and 

• The disclosure is justified under the common law ‘duty of confidence’.

7.7.3 General safeguarding enquiries: Where requests for information are being 
made or referrals are being prepared for general safeguarding enquiries i.e. not 
necessarily for potential life threatening cases or incidences of immediate harm, 
Gravesham Borough Council has committed as a signatory to the current Kent and 
Medway Information Sharing Agreement. This Agreement provides a framework for 
fair and lawful information sharing and is binding on organisations that sign. Further 
information on signatory agencies can be found via the council’s Data Protection 
Officer. 

7.8 In line with statutory responsibilities and local information sharing agreements, the 
council adopts the government’s ‘seven golden rules for information sharing’ as good 
practice: 
• Remember that the GDPR and DPA are not barriers to sharing information but 

provides a framework to ensure that personal information about living persons is 
shared appropriately.

• Be open and honest with the person (and/or their family where appropriate) from 
the outset about why, what, how and with whom information will, or could be shared, 
and seek their agreement, unless it is unsafe or inappropriate to do so.

• Seek advice if you are in any doubt, without disclosing the identity of the person 
where possible.

• Share with consent where appropriate and, where possible, respect the wishes of 
those who do not consent to share confidential information. You may still share 
information without consent if, in your judgement, that lack of consent can be 
overridden in the public interest. You will need to base judgement on the facts of the 
case.

• Consider safety and well-being: Base your information sharing decisions on 
considerations of the safety and well-being of the person who may be affected by 
their actions.

• Necessary, proportionate, relevant, accurate, timely and secure: Ensure that 
the information you share is necessary for the purpose for which you are sharing it, 
is shared only with those people who need to have it, is accurate and up-to- date, is 
shared in a timely fashion, and is shared securely.

• Keep a record of your decision and the reasons for it - whether it is to share 
information or not. If you decide to share, then record what you have shared, with 
whom and for what purpose.

7.9  Where  there  are  concerns  relating  to  records  management,  such  as  
the collection,  storage  and  sharing  of  personal  data,  the  advice  of the  
council’s  Data Protection  Officer should  be sought.

Page 43



Appendix  

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

7.10 Further guidance on data sharing 
Where there are concerns about the length of time for which individual records 
should be kept, or whether any course of action relating to personal data may be 
in breach of the GDPR, the advice of the council’s Data Protection Officer will be 
sought. 

7.11 Policy review
Gravesham Borough Council will review this Safeguarding Policy and associated 
procedures on a biennial basis and in line with any prescribed legislative changes to the 
safeguarding agenda, whichever is sooner. 

7.12 In the event of significant changes to the policy, the process of approval will 
consider the opinion of relevant stakeholders (including young people and 
vulnerable adult representatives) prior to the requirement of Cabinet approval. All 
minor changes to this policy will be delivered on the approval of the Designated 
Safeguarding Officer, the council’s Chief Executive Officer and the council Leader, 
as the appointed Member Champion for the safeguarding agenda.

Page 44



7: Safeguarding data administration 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

1: Glossary of terms 
Appendix 1 outlines a glossary of the key terms referenced throughout this Safeguarding 
Policy. 

Terms Definition 
Abuse and neglect Form of emotional, physical or sexual maltreatment of a child or 

vulnerable adult. 
Child(ren) Applies to children and young people under 18 years of age. 
‘Child in need’ A child that "is unlikely to achieve or maintain a reasonable standard 

of health or development" and/or "health or development is likely to 
be significantly impaired": Section 17 of the Children Act (1989).

DBS A Disclosure and Barring Service check. A tool used by the 
council for recruitment purposes and other areas of activity to help 
prevent unsuitable people from working with vulnerable groups. 

Disclosure Where a child or vulnerable adult ‘confides’ to a council employee or 
Member that they are being abused or mistreated. 

Employees/officers Those employed by Gravesham Borough Council and partners, 
contractors and volunteers involved in the delivery of council services 
or in council premises or facilities. 

GDPR General Data Protection Regulation (2018). The GDPR forms part of 
the data protection regime in the UK, together with the new Data 
Protection Act 2018 (DPA 2018). 

Housing related support Is a Kent County Council support service (i.e. funding, planning, 
monitoring and improving housing-related issues) for vulnerable 
people - homeless, older people and people fleeing domestic 
violence. 

KMSAB Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board. 
KSCB Kent Safeguarding Children Board. 
LADO Local Authority Designated Officer
Local authority/council Gravesham Borough Council, Kent County Council. 
Members Elected Gravesham Borough Council Councillors. 
Neglect The persistent failure to meet a child or vulnerable adult’s basic 

physical and/or psychological needs, likely to result in the serious 
impairment of their health or development. 

Parent/carer Generic term to include birth parents, step-parents, guardians and 
carers. The term will specify parental responsibility where necessary. 

Referral The act of passing on the case details of a resident to another agency 
for consultation, review or further action. 

Safeguarding The process of protecting from abuse or neglect, preventing 
impairment of health and development, and ensuring the promotion of 
quality of life chances. 

Vulnerable adult An adult at risk is any person 18 years or over who is, or appears to 
be; eligible for local authority / mental health services’ assistance by 
reason of mental ill health, physical or learning disability, illness or 
age related frailty and/or, may be unable to take care of him/herself 
or unable to protect him/herself against significant harm or 
exploitation. 

Page 45



Appendix 2: A guide to types of abuse 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

How to define and identify abuse 
Appendix 2 provides the main categories of abuse and their indicators. The table should be 
read to refer to children and vulnerable adults unless otherwise stated. The table can be 
used as a guide to assist with recognising abuse in domestic homes, care homes, day 
centres, workplaces and other community settings. 

The categories of abuse are not mutually exclusive; a child or a vulnerable adult may be 
subjected to more than one type of abuse at the same time. Officers are advised against 
establishing abuse merely due to the presence of one of the listed indicators; instead this 
document should be used for providing descriptive information for reporting duties. 

Type of abuse Definition Indicators of abuse 
Physical 

“A form of abuse which may 
involve hitting, shaking, 
throwing, poisoning, burning or 
scalding, drowning, suffocating 
or otherwise causing physical 
harm to a child. Physical harm 
may also be caused when a 
parent or carer fabricates the 
symptoms of, or deliberately 
induces, illness in a child or 
vulnerable adult.” 

• Hitting, slapping, 
scratching, pushing, 
shaking, suffocating, 
scalding, throwing, 
poisoning, drowning or 
otherwise causing physical
harm;

• Restraint without justifiable 
reason (may include 
misuse of medication);

• Inappropriate sanctions 
(deprivation of food, 
clothing, warmth, health 
care needs);

• May include a caregiver
fabricating or deliberately 
inducing illness
(Münchausen by Proxy 
Syndrome);

• Female Genital Mutilation.

• Bruises, fractures, bites, burns, 
scalds, hair loss in one area, 
urine burns, bed sores, scars, 
lack of mobility aids where 
applicable;

• Cowering, flinching, general 
fearfulness;

• Injuries especially in well 
protected areas of body (e.g.
inside of thighs or upper arms);

• Injuries of uniform or unusual 
type;

• Accumulation of 
nonadministered medicine;

• History of unexplained falls or 
minor injuries;

• Frequent changing of General 
Practitioners (GPs) or reluctance 
against GP consultation/visit.

Sexual 

“Occurs where an individual or 
group takes advantage of an 
imbalance of power to coerce, 
manipulate or deceive a child 
or vulnerable adult into sexual 
activity (a) in exchange for 
something the victim needs or 
wants, and/or (b) for the 
financial advantage or 
increased status of the 
perpetrator or facilitator. The 
victim may have been sexually 
exploited even if the sexual 
activity appears consensual.” 

• Sexual activity involving 
force, coercion or 
enticement equating to 
exploitation [see ‘modern 
slavery’];

• Violence is not 
necessarily involved;

• Sexual activity where the 
child or vulnerable adult 
lacks the mental capacity 
to understand and/or 
give consent;

• Rape or attempted rape;
• Sexual exploitation;
• Non-contact abuse (e.g.

voyeurism, pornography, 
grooming over the 
internet–explained in more 
detail in this Appendix).

As a perpetrator may not solely be 
an adult male(s), it could be female 
and/or another child or vulnerable 
adult, recognition can often be hard 
to identify unless disclosed. 
Indicators are most likely to be: a) 
Behavioural: e.g. attention seeking, 
withdrawal and isolation, sexually 
explicit behaviour/language, sleep 
disturbance, self-harm, drug/alcohol 
misuse, running away from home, 
unexplained sources of money or 
‘gifts’.

b) Physical: bruising, bleeding or 
itching around the genitals, 
bedwetting, torn or blood/semen 
stained underclothing, sexually 
transmitted infections, pregnancy, 

Page 46



Appendix 2: A guide to types of abuse 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

eating disorder/anorexia, stomach 
problems.

Type of abuse Definition Indicators of abuse 
Psychological / Emotional

“The persistent emotional 
maltreatment of a child or 
vulnerable adult such as to 
cause severe and persistent 
adverse effects on the person’s 
emotional development.” 

• Behaviour that has a 
harmful effect on 
emotional health, 
wellbeing and/or 
development;

• Verbal abuse; bullying 
(inc. cyber bullying); 
humiliation,
ridicule, intimidation, threat
of punishment, 
abandonment;

• Isolation or withdrawal 
from services or 
supportive networks;

• Deliberate denial of 
religious or cultural needs;

• Failure to provide access 
to appropriate social skills
and educational 
opportunities;

• By-product of all forms of 
abuse.

• Any sudden changes to mood, 
behaviour, appetite, sleep 
patterns, continence, use of eye 
contact;

• Anxiety, confusion or general 
resignation;

• Fear of making mistakes;
• Sucking, biting or rocking;
• Easily frightened;
• Loss of self-esteem;
• Uncharacteristically becoming 

manipulative, uncooperative and 
aggressive;

• Obsessions or phobias;
• Radicalised 

views/encouragement to adopt 
extremist (violent or non-violent)
views (Prevent);

• Impairment of intellectual, 
emotional and social 
development;

• Dysfunctional relationships with 
family members/caregivers.

Page 47

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/97976/prevent-strategy-review.pdf


Appendix 2: A guide to types of abuse 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

Neglect 

"The persistent failure to meet a 
child or vulnerable adult’s basic 
physical and/or psychological 
needs, likely to result in the 
serious impairment of the child’s 
health or development.” 

[Not necessarily deliberate, 
may also include neglect of, 
or unresponsiveness to basic 
emotional needs.] 

Failure to: 
• provide adequate food and

clothing or shelter of an 
adequate standard 
(including exclusion from 
home or abandonment);

• protect a child from 
physical and emotional 
harm or danger;

• ensure adequate
supervision (including the 
use of inadequate 
caregivers);

• ensure access to 
appropriate medical care 
or treatment;

• provide access to 
appropriate health, care 
and support or educational 
services.

• Inadequate heating, lighting, 
hygiene, clothing, food or fluids;

• Constantly tired;
• Begging/stealing food;
• Poor physical condition (e.g. bed 

sores, weight loss);
• Failures to give prescribed 

medication or obtain appropriate 
medical care;

• Sensory deprivation (e.g. no 
access to glasses, hearing aids);

• Thriving outside the home/care 
environment;

• Children may be frequently 
absent or late to school;

• Rarely an act of deliberate 
cruelty in a home, often an 
indirect result of unmet needs of 
the parent(s) e.g. young carers 
(IMAGO).

Discriminatory 

“An offence which is perceived 
by the victim or any other 
person to be motivated by a 
hostility or prejudice based on a 
personal characteristic.” 

• When values, beliefs or 
culture result in a misuse 
of power;

• Discrimination on basis of 
age, disability, sexual 
orientation, race/ethnicity, 
sex, language, culture, 
religion or politics;

• Tendency to withdrawal and
isolation;

• Fearfulness and anxiety;
• Being refused access to services 

or being excluded
inappropriately;

• Loss of self-esteem;

Page 48

http://www.imago.community/Children-and-Young-People/Kent-Young-Carers


Appendix 2: A guide to types of abuse 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

Type of abuse Definition Indicators of abuse 
Discriminatory 

[cont.] 

• Degrading harassment and
slurs;

• Hate crime.

• Resistance or refusal to access 
services that are required to 
meet need;

• Expressions of anger and
frustration;

• Extreme/radicalised views.
Financial 

“Financial recorded abuse can 
occur in isolation, but as 
research has shown, where 
there are other forms of abuse, 
there is likely to be financial 
abuse occurring.” 

• The use of personal 
resources without 
informed consent or 
authorisation;

• Theft, fraud and/or 
extortion of material
assets including internet 
scamming;

• Exploitation, pressure in 
connection with wills,
 property or inheritance;

• Misappropriation of 
property, possessions or
benefits;

• Misuse of power of 
attorney or appointeeship.

• Anxiety about money;
• Living conditions substandard 

and unsatisfactory in contrast to 
adult’s apparent financial 
position;

• Extreme interest and 
involvement by the family, carer, 
friend or stranger;

• Lack of heating, clothing or food;
• Inability to pay bills/unexplained 

shortage of money;
• Unexplained withdrawals from 

an account;
• Unexplained loss/misplacement 

of financial documents or 
personal possessions;

• The recent addition of authorised 
signers on a client or donor’s 
signature card;

• Sudden or unexpected changes
in a will or other financial 
documents.

As paragraph 3 sets out there are a number of forms and settings in which abuse may take 
place. Whether an on-going relationship, or an abusive service setting, and even potentially 
involving more than one person, these factors make it vitally important to look beyond 
single incidents to identify underlying dynamics and patterns of harm. Any or all types of 
abuse may be perpetrated as the result of deliberate intent and targeting of children or 
vulnerable adults. 

Situation-based abuse 
Whilst the table above describes six core manifestations of abuse, there are so-called 
‘situation based’ types of abuse which have significant implications for the safeguarding of 

children and vulnerable adults. These types of abuse are set out below:

Type of abuse Definition Indicators of abuse 
Modern slavery 

“Can include victims that have 
been brought from overseas and 
vulnerable people in the UK, 
being forced to illegally work 
against their will in many diverse 
sectors including; brothels, 
agriculture and illegal drugs.” 

• Encompasses slavery,
human trafficking, forced 
labour and domestic 
servitude. Traffickers and 
slave masters use all 
means they have at their 
disposal to coerce, deceive 
and force individuals into a 
life of abuse and servitude.

• Victims may show signs of 
physical or psychological abuse, 
look malnourished or unkempt, or 
appear withdrawn.

• Victims may not be allowed to 
travel on their own, appear
unfamiliar with their 
surroundings.

• Victims may have limited I.D.

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/duty-to-notify-the-home-office-of-potential-victims-of-modern-slavery


Appendix 2: A guide to types of abuse 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

Type of abuse Definition Indicators of abuse 
Domestic abuse 

“Any incident or pattern of 
incidents of controlling, coercive, 
threatening behaviour, violence 
or abuse between intimate 
partners or family members 
regardless of gender or 
sexuality.” 

• Any incident or pattern of 
incidents of controlling, 
coercive or threatening 
behaviour, violence or 
abuse between those aged 
16 or over who are or have 
been intimate partners or 
family members regardless 
of gender or sexuality.

• People may experience 
domestic abuse regardless 
of ethnicity, religion, class, 
age, sexuality, disability or 
lifestyle etc.

• Can encompass but is
not limited to any one of 
the six manifestations of 
abuse outlined in the 
previous table.

• Frontline workers throughout 
the council have the potential 
to encounter signs of domestic 
abuse and possibly even a 
disclosure;

• It is vital that any indicator, 
explicit or otherwise, is taken 
seriously and reported – this 
act saves lives;

• Officers who suspect domestic 
abuse must consider 
safeguarding issues:o Who 
else is at risk?

o Are children or vulnerable 
adults present? o What 
preventative action is 
needed?

• Police through domestic abuse 
protocols will be addressed 
under child and adult 
protection processes if a child 
or vulnerable adult is in 
immediate danger.

Forced marriage 

“Forced marriage denotes a 
situation where one or both of 
the spouses do not consent 
and some element of external 
pressure is involved.” 

 Must be seen as distinct from 
arranged marriage (where 
families organise marriage 
but the choice whether to 
accept lies with the adult or 
young person).

 May exhibit signs of physical, 
psychological, financial, sexual 
and emotional abuse.

Institutional 

“Including neglect and poor 
care practice within an 
institution or specific care 
setting like a hospital or care 
home, for example. This may 
range from isolated incidents to 
continuing ill-treatment.” 

• Children or vulnerable 
adults placed in any kind of 
care home or day care 
establishment are 
potentially vulnerable to 
abuse and exploitation;

• Shows lack of respect for 
dignity and human rights;

• When care standards and 
practices fall below an 
acceptable level, 
institutional abuse is more 
common;

• May result from poor 
standards of care, lack of 
knowledge, understanding 
and training.

• Regimented regimes, unusually 
subdued residents, anxiety in the 
presence of social care workers;

• Users may exhibit signs of 
physical, sexual, financial, 
psychological or discriminatory 
abuse;

• Whistleblowers must know how 
to access support and 
protection; anonymous reports 
are permitted and should be 
taken seriously.

Page 50

http://www.domesticabuseservices.org.uk/DOMESTIC%20ABUSE%20REFERRAL%20PATHWAYS%20V2.pdf


Appendix 2: A guide to types of abuse 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

Type of abuse Definition Indicators of abuse 
Restraint 

“Mistreatment of people brought 
about by poor care or support 
whereby an individual’s needs 
or wishes are neglected for the 
smooth running of a house, a 
home, service or organisation.” 

• It is illegal and 
unprofessional to use any
form of physical, 
mechanical, emotional or 
any other form of restraint 
as a means of punishment;

• Restraint may only be 
considered in situations 
where there is a clear or 
perceived risk of an adult 
injuring themselves, or 
others, or seriously 
damaging property.

• Children and vulnerable adults 
who have been unlawfully 
restrained are most likely to 
exhibit signs of physical or 
psychological abuse;

• Depending on the
circumstances, restraint could 
also be considered institutional 
abuse.

Self-neglect 

“Any conscious failure of an 
adult to take care of himself or 
herself that causes, or is 
reasonably likely to cause within 
a short period of time, serious 
physical.” 

• Self-neglect differs from 
the other forms of abuse 
listed here because it does 
not involve a perpetrator.

• Self-neglect can be life 
threatening and can pose 
a risk to others if fire and 
housing regulations are 
not being followed for 
example.

 Hoarding disorder is a persistent 
difficulty discarding or parting 
with possessions because of a 
perceived need to save them, 
often creating such cramped 
living conditions that homes may 
be filled to capacity. Some 
people also collect animals/pets 
in unsanitary conditions.

E-based abuse
The growth of the Internet has brought with it a mass of opportunities and also complex and 
diverse risks to safeguarding; for example exploitation of vulnerable residents for the 
purposes of radicalisation, countered by the council’s commitment to the PREVENT 
agenda.  The council has an obligation to help keep children and vulnerable adults safe 
online by being adequately equipped to understand, identify and mitigate the risks of new 
technology outlined below wherever possible. 

Type of e-abuse Examples 
Financial • Phishing scams, designed to obtain personal and/or financial 

information and possibly steal your identity.
• Gifts of expensive smart phones which can be used in exchange for 

gang membership, sexual favours and abuse.
Fraud        Fake shopping, banking, charity, dating, social networking, gaming,        

gambling and other websites.
Psychological • Exposure to inappropriate content; sexually explicit, racist, violent, 

extremist or other harmful material, either through choice or in error.
• Naming of rape victims online.

Inappropriate contact • People who may wish to abuse, exploit or 
bully. 

•  Digital stalking.
Inappropriate 
conduct 

• Due to their own and others’ online behaviour, such as the 
personal information they make public, for example on social 
networking sites.

Page 51



Appendix 3: Legislative framework 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

Sexual • Exposure to sexually explicit content.
• “Sexting” (exchange of sexual messages or images).
• Grooming in web forums and chat rooms.
• Online predators, cyber-stalking and risk of abuse.

Physical • Access to legal highs and illegal drugs.
• Online predators, cyber-stalking and risk of abuse.

Appendix 3 outlines specific statutory legislation and associated duties relevant to Gravesham 
Borough Council’s corporate safeguarding responsibilities. 

Operationally the council has in place a framework of policies that set out how the council’s 
activities are delivered in consideration of the wider safeguarding agenda and other specific 
duties (e.g. Housing Allocations Policy) and these are available via the council’s website.

Act Section Duty/Explanation 
s17(1) Duty to promote and safeguard the welfare of children 

It shall be the general duty of every local authority; 
(a) to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 
within their area who are in need; and
(b) so far as is consistent with that duty, to promote the 
upbringing of such children by their families, by providing a 
range and level of services appropriate to those children’s 
needs.

s27 Duty to co-operate (Help with children in need) A duty on 
other local authorities, local authority housing services and 
health bodies to cooperate with a local authority in the 
exercise of that authority’s duties under Part 3 of the Act 
which relate to local authority support for children and 
families (Kent County Council). 

Children Act (1989) 

s47 Duty to investigate (Help with significant harm enquiries) 
Where a local authority: 
(a) are informed that a child who lives, or is found, in 
their area (i) is the subject of an emergency protection order, 
or (ii) is in police protection; or
(b) have reasonable cause to suspect that a child who 
lives, or is found, in their area is suffering, or is likely to 
suffer, significant harm:
the authority must make, or cause to be made, such enquires 
as they consider necessary to enable them to decide whether 
they should take any action to safeguard or promote the 
child’s welfare.

Housing Act (1996) s177(1) Whether it is reasonable to continue to occupy 
accommodation 
It is not reasonable for a person to continue to occupy 
accommodation if it is probable that this will lead to domestic 
violence against him, or against: 
(a) a person who normally resides with him as a member 
of his family, or
(b) any other person who might reasonably be expected to 
reside with him.

Page 52



Appendix 3: Legislative framework 

29

s213A Co-operation in certain cases involving children 
Requires housing authorities to refer to adult social care 
services persons with whom children normally reside or 
might reasonably be expected to reside, who they have 
reason to believe may be ineligible for assistance, or who 
may be homeless and may have become so intentionally or 
who may be threatened with homelessness intentionally, as 
long as the person consents. 

Act Section Duty/Explanation 
s10 Duty to co-operate to improve children’s wellbeing 

Requires each local authority with responsibility for education 
and children’s service (Kent County Council) to make 
arrangements to promote co-operation between the authority, 
each of the authority’s relevant partners and such other 
persons or bodies working with children in the local 
authority’s area as the authority considers appropriate. 

The arrangements are to be made with a view to improving 
the wellbeing of children in the authority’s area, which 
includes protection from harm or neglect. 

s11 Duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 
Requires a range of organisations (including District Councils) 
to make arrangements for ensuring that their functions, and 
services provided on their behalf, are discharged with regard 
to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 

This Safeguarding Policy outlines how Gravesham Borough 
Council practically delivers on its responsibilities under this 
duty. 

Children Act (2004) 

s13 Establishment of LSCBs 
Requires each local authority to establish a Local 
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) for their area and 
specifies the organisations and individuals that must be 
represented on the Board. 

Within Kent, these responsibilities are discharged through the 
Kent Safeguarding Children’s Board of which Gravesham 
Borough Council is a Member. 

Housing Act (2004) s9 Housing Conditions 
Part 1 of the Housing Act (2004) gives local authorities 
powers and duties to take action against bad housing 
conditions, and introduces a new Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System under which environmental health 
professionals will assess the impact of health and safety 
hazards in the light of the occupants most vulnerable. 

Page 53



Appendix 3: Legislative framework 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

Care Act (2014) s42 Enquiry by local authority 
(1) Where a local authority has reasonable cause to suspect 
that an adult in its area (whether or not ordinarily resident 
there):
(a) has needs for care and support (whether or not the 
authority is meeting any of those needs),
(b) is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and 
(c) as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or 
herself against the abuse or neglect or the risk of it.

(2)The local authority must make (or cause to be made) 
whatever enquiries it thinks necessary to enable it to decide 
whether any action should be taken in the adult’s case 
(whether under this Part or otherwise) and, if so, what and by 
whom.

Act Section Duty/Explanation 
s43 Establishment of SABs 

Each local authority must establish a Safeguarding Adults 
Board (SAB) for its area. Within Kent, responsibilities are 
discharged through the Kent and Medway Safeguarding 
Adults Board of which Gravesham is a Member. 

s44 Safeguarding Adults Reviews 
An SAB must arrange for there to be a review of a case 
involving an adult in its area with needs for care and support 
(whether or not the local authority has been meeting any of 
those needs) if: 
(a) there is reasonable cause for concern about how the 
SAB, members of it or other persons with relevant functions 
worked together to safeguard the adult, and
(b) condition 1 or 2 (see s44(2) and s44(3)) is met.
Each member of the SAB must co-operate in and contribute 
to the carrying out of a review.

Care Act (2014) 
(cont.) 

s45 Supply of information 
This section outlines the conditions whereby council officers 
are to supply relevant case information about vulnerable 
residents to SABs when undertaking a SAR. 

Modern Slavery Act 
(2015) 

s52 Duty to notify 
If a public authority to which this section applies has 
reasonable grounds to believe that a person may be a victim 
of slavery or human trafficking it must notify— 
(a) the Secretary of State, or
(b) if regulations made by the Secretary of State require it 
to notify a public authority other than the Secretary of State, 
that public authority.

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/duty-to-notify-the-home-office-of-potential-victims-of-modern-slavery


Appendix 3: Legislative framework 

31

Counter Terrorism 
and Security Act 
(2015) 

s26 General duty on specified authorities 
a specified authority (which includes Local Authorities) 'must, 
in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism'. 

Domestic Abuse Act 
(2021)

s57 Accommodation Duty 
Place a duty on local authorities in England to provide 
accommodation based support to victims of domestic abuse 
and their children in refuges and other safe accommodation

Duty for local authority to establish DA Local Partnership 
Board

Gravesham Borough Council: Policy framework 
This Safeguarding Policy and the associated procedures should be interpreted in 
consideration of the council’s corporate policy framework and specifically; 

• Accessibility for All Policy;
• Code of Conduct for Employees;
• Corporate Complaints Procedure;
• Dignity at Work Procedure;
• Disciplinary and Grievance Procedures;
• Equality Policy;
• Health and Safety Policy;
• Information Security Policy;
• Internet Acceptable Use Policy;
• Recruitment and Selection Policy and Procedures;
• Records Retention Schedule; and 
• Whistleblowing Policy. 

Core safeguarding guidance documents 
Document title Purpose Source 
Care and Support Statutory 
Guidance: 

Dept. of Health 

A guide to the local authority 
responsibilities under the Care 
Act (2014). 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/care- 
and-support-statutory- 
guidance/safeguarding 

Working Together to 
Safeguard Children: 

Dept. for Education  

A guide to inter-agency 
working to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of 
children. (2018)

NOTE: covers duties relating to 
Children Act (1989) and 

https://www.gov.uk/government/pu 
blications/working-together-to- 
safeguard-children--2 

Safeguarding practitioners: 
information sharing advice: 

Dept. for Education  

Advice for practitioners 
providing safeguarding 
services to children, young 
people, parents and carers. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/pu 
blications/safeguarding- 
practitioners-information-sharing- 
advice 

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/97976/prevent-strategy-review.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance/safeguarding
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance/safeguarding
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance/safeguarding
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-practitioners-information-sharing-advice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-practitioners-information-sharing-advice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-practitioners-information-sharing-advice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-practitioners-information-sharing-advice


Appendix 3: Legislative framework 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

What to do if you’re worried 
a child is being abused: 
Dept. for Education  

Guidance to help 
practitioners identify the 
signs of child abuse and 
neglect and understand what 
to do. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/pu 
blications/what-to-do-if-youre- 
worried-a-child-is-being-abused--2 

https://www.gov.uk/government/pu 
blications/criminal-exploitation-of- 
children-and-vulnerable-adults- 
county-lines 

Criminal Exploitation of 
children and vulnerable adults: 
County Lines guidance 

Home Office  

Guidance for professionals on 
dealing with county lines, part 
of the government’s approach 
to ending gang violence and 
exploitation. 

Practical guidance for local Guidance for 
Professionals: 

Kent Safeguarding 
Children Multi-Agency 
Partnership

professionals on making 
referrals and other key 
material covering; 

• Self-neglect

http://www.kscmp.org.uk/guidance 

&
Kent and Medway 
Safeguarding Adults 
Board 

• Sexual exploitation
• Human trafficking
• Mental capacity
• Domestic abuse
• Modern slavery
• Financial abuse
• Religious exploitation

NOTE: also covers the Kent  
and Medway Information 
 Sharing Protocol 

https://www.kent.gov.uk/social- care-
and-health/information-for- 
professionals/adult-protection/adult- 
protection-forms-and- 
policies/national-adult-protection- 
legislation 

Kent Family Support 
Framework: 

KELSI 

A framework used by Early 
Help and Preventative 
Services to support families 
with needs defined as 
intensive. 

www.kelsi.org.uk/support-for- 
children-and-young-people/early- 
help-and-preventative- 
services/kent-family-support- 
framework 

Page 56

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/what-to-do-if-youre-worried-a-child-is-being-abused--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/what-to-do-if-youre-worried-a-child-is-being-abused--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/what-to-do-if-youre-worried-a-child-is-being-abused--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-exploitation-of-children-and-vulnerable-adults-county-lines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-exploitation-of-children-and-vulnerable-adults-county-lines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-exploitation-of-children-and-vulnerable-adults-county-lines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-exploitation-of-children-and-vulnerable-adults-county-lines
http://www.kscmp.org.uk/guidance
http://www.kscb.org.uk/guidance
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0012/14043/information-sharing-protocols.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0012/14043/information-sharing-protocols.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0012/14043/information-sharing-protocols.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/social-care-and-health/information-for-professionals/adult-protection/adult-protection-forms-and-policies/national-adult-protection-legislation
https://www.kent.gov.uk/social-care-and-health/information-for-professionals/adult-protection/adult-protection-forms-and-policies/national-adult-protection-legislation
https://www.kent.gov.uk/social-care-and-health/information-for-professionals/adult-protection/adult-protection-forms-and-policies/national-adult-protection-legislation
https://www.kent.gov.uk/social-care-and-health/information-for-professionals/adult-protection/adult-protection-forms-and-policies/national-adult-protection-legislation
https://www.kent.gov.uk/social-care-and-health/information-for-professionals/adult-protection/adult-protection-forms-and-policies/national-adult-protection-legislation
https://www.kent.gov.uk/social-care-and-health/information-for-professionals/adult-protection/adult-protection-forms-and-policies/national-adult-protection-legislation
http://www.kelsi.org.uk/support-for-children-and-young-people/early-help-and-preventative-services/kent-family-support-framework
http://www.kelsi.org.uk/support-for-children-and-young-people/early-help-and-preventative-services/kent-family-support-framework
http://www.kelsi.org.uk/support-for-children-and-young-people/early-help-and-preventative-services/kent-family-support-framework
http://www.kelsi.org.uk/support-for-children-and-young-people/early-help-and-preventative-services/kent-family-support-framework
http://www.kelsi.org.uk/support-for-children-and-young-people/early-help-and-preventative-services/kent-family-support-framework


Appendix 4: Service responsibilities 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

The duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and vulnerable adults is applicable 
corporately across the authority. Through their activities, some services are likely to play a more 
prominent role in safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and vulnerable adults as 
part of their day-to-day work – recognising welfare issues, sharing information, making referrals 
and subsequently managing or reducing risks. Appendix 4 sets out some of those areas and 
services with likely interaction in the Safeguarding agenda. 

Human Resources 
• Working to maintain a corporate record of those posts requiring a DBS disclosure 

together with the level of disclosure required.
• Ensuring that recruitment procedures are robust and that information pertinent to working 

with vulnerable groups is obtained during the recruitment procedure.
• Ensuring that DBS Disclosures are carried out in compliance with legislation and DBS 

guidance.
• Referring information to the DBS about employees who have been dismissed or removed 

from working with vulnerable groups (or would have been had they not left/ resigned) as a 
result of a relevant caution/conviction, conduct that has harmed or put a child/vulnerable 
adult at risk of harm, or satisfied the ‘Harm Test’ in relation to vulnerable groups.

Communications and Digital Team 
• Officers should be aware of safeguarding and be mindful of how images of children and 

vulnerable adults are used in council publications, including Social Media, with due 
consideration of data protection regulations.

Revenues and Benefits 
• Visiting officers may be become aware of conditions that impact adversely on a child or 

vulnerable adult.
• Officers may be alerted to adverse situations by telephone/processing Benefit 

applications.
• Investigations may reveal safeguarding issues particularly in concern of customers with 

financial difficulties.
• Housing Benefits officers will need to have regard to the council’s duty to safeguard 

children and vulnerable adults, particularly where direct claims are made by 16 and 17 
year olds, victims of domestic abuse etc.

Customer Services/Reception 
• Vulnerable adults, some with complex needs, may visit the Civic Centre/Gateway with 

service requests or seeking help.
• Procedures should be in place to deal with people with special or specific needs such 

as mental health issues which impact on their ability to communicate effectively.
• Often Customer Services/Reception officers will be required to escort from the Civic 

Centre vulnerable adults or families who have made service requests but where it has 
been identified that no council service provision is to be made. Officers are to use this 
policy to recognise and report broader safeguarding issues as they are identified than 
perhaps the original service request (i.e. a resident’s needs may require a number of 
different services and therefore before requiring someone to leave consider other 
relevant/potential needs).

Page 57



Appendix 4: Service responsibilities 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

Planning Regeneration & Development Management 
• Planning and enforcement employees, in their day-to-day site visits may become 

aware of needs or welfare issues.
• Specifically, officers should ensure that all contracts and grants to organisations are 

required to demonstrate that they have in place an appropriate Safeguarding Policy as 
a condition of financial support.

Leisure/public health activities
Staff, volunteers and contractors who provide or administer the following services will have 
various degrees of contact with children and vulnerable adults: 

• Leisure Centres;
• Public health programmes via the Gr@nd;
• Healthy living activities and programmes in the community;
• Community events and attractions;
• Play facilities;
• Parks and gardens.

The council’s Leisure Centre management contractors and the Gr@nd’s officers are 
key partners in identifying potential abuse to children and vulnerable adults and this 
policy should be advertised accordingly to provide a direct link to their individual 
Safeguarding duties and policies. 

Housing 
All Housing employees (and partners delivering aspects of the council’s housing services) 
are well placed to observe situations that may warrant referral: 

• Day-to-day contact with families and tenants, may become aware of needs or welfare 
issues that they can either tackle directly (for instance, by making repairs or adaptations 
to homes) or by assisting the family in accessing help through other organisations.

• Homelessness officers play a front line emergency role managing re-housing or 
repossession when adults and children become homeless or at risk of homelessness 
including formal reporting procedures when homelessness as a result of abuse.

• Housing Officers who interact with tenants, often in their homes, have a direct line of 
potential intelligence into safeguarding concerns.

• Complaints received from tenants in the Private Rented Sector may uncover 
safeguarding issues, e.g. Houses of Multiple Occupation, that require investigation.

Environmental Health/Licensing 
• Environmental Health officers may become aware of conditions that impact adversely 

on a child or vulnerable adult – particularly through investigations / response to 
complaints.

• Under Part 1 of the Housing Act (2004), authorities will take account of the impact of 
health and safety hazards in housing on vulnerable occupants, including children, 
when deciding on the action to be taken by landlords to improve conditions.

• Employees need to be especially aware of the risk of neglect, emotional abuse and 
domestic abuse.

• Licensing officers have a duty to consider the welfare and protection of children and 
vulnerable adults when making licensing decisions, and report any safeguarding 
breaches (suspected or otherwise) of owners and officers of licensed premises and for 
taxi licensing functions (Hackney/Private Hire).

Page 58



Appendix 4: Service responsibilities 

Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

• The council’s waste and recycling service is a key service in identifying potential areas 
of concern to children and vulnerable adults.

Community Safety 
• Through Police intelligence received at the daily tasking and co-ordination meetings 

with the Police, KCC Community Wardens, Housing Association and other partner 
agencies. Will help the council fulfil a multi-agency approach in response to 
suspicions of abuse to children or vulnerable adults.

• Officers working to reduce anti-social behaviour should liaise with other organisations 
to reduce unacceptable activities and be particularly mindful that children and 
vulnerable adults can be the target of serious anti-social behaviour, physical and 
sexual abuse.

• Multi-agency Gravesham Families First (Troubled Families project) – involves regular 
contact with both vulnerable children and adults. Many of these families are 
experiencing multiple issues, for example unemployment, absence from school, 
involvement in anti-social behaviour or involved with Children’s Specialist Services.

Procurement 
• In overseeing the tender process for council contracts, the Procurement service will 

work with officers seeking to procure a service that potentially has a direct impact on 
children or vulnerable adults. There is a commitment for the lead officer
(commissioner) to outline in the appropriate specification the requirement for details 
of relevant safeguarding arrangements and polices for review in the determining of 
the tender application.

• Procurement processes should also include steps to mitigate against the risk of certain 
forms of abuse e.g. modern slavery, being present within its supply chains.

Page 59



Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

Appendix 5: Photography and filming consent form 

Project: 

For the purposes of Gravesham Borough Council’s marketing and 
publicity material, I give permission for a photograph of: 

Name 1: ………………………………………………… Age: …… 
PRINT NAME 

Name 2: ………………………………………………… Age: …… 
PRINT NAME 

Name 3: ………………………………………………… Age: …… 
PRINT NAME 

Name 4: ………………………………………………… Age: …… 
PRINT NAME 

Signed……………………………….. Date: …………. Print 

Name: ……………………………………………. 

Address……………………………………………………………………………………. 

(A parent or guardian must give authorisation for children under the age of 18)

NOTE: Names and ages of children will only be printed with your consent. Addresses 
and other personal details will remain confidential. 

Page 60



Gravesham Borough Council: Safeguarding Policy 

NOTE: All images and details will be maintained in line with data protection regulations. 
All participants have the right to  withdraw consent for the use of their image at a later 
point. 

Page 61



Appendix 6
P

age 62



Appendix 7: Notification and referral forms 
Appendix 7 sets out the key considerations (e.g. disclosures from the public, intervention 
thresholds) and forms required for completion (e.g. notifications) as part of any safeguarding 
referrals that are to be made. 

Stage 1: Initial notification and considerations 

• Guidance notes for officers when dealing with a ‘disclosure’: These guidance 
notes provide some considerations for dealing both with someone disclosing 
information relating to a safeguarding and also when seeking to report an incident of 
abuse or safeguarding concern.

Do: 
o Stay calm. 
o Provide a listening ear and an open mind.
o Be reassuring, particularly that the individual is doing the right thing by telling 

you. 

o Record the information you are provided with and report as quickly as possible 
to your line manager and the Safeguarding Champions. This information will 
potentially be passed to an external agency and should include a record of the 
time, date and persons present.

Don’t: 
o Promise to keep the information secret. Make it clear that you have a duty to 

refer the matter on.
o Stop the individual who is freely recalling significant events. o Make the 

individual tell anyone else. S/he may have to be formally interviewed later and it 
is important to minimise the number of times information is repeated.

o Make any suggestions to the individual about how the incident may have 
happened.

o Question the individual, except to clarify what they are saying.
o Discuss the information with anyone other than your line manager, a 

Safeguarding Champion or an appropriate external agency.

Page 63



• Threshold criteria
Abuse of children can take many forms. Kent support levels guidance includes 
illustrative examples about how need may present itself for formal intervention. It can 
help to decide whether to refer a child and whether the child will meet either the ‘child 
in need’ or ‘child protection’ thresholds: o Child in need: the child is unlikely to 
achieve or maintain a reasonable standard of health or development or development 
is likely to be significantly impaired (section 17 of the 1989 Children Act).

o Child protection: where a child has suffered or is likely to suffer significant 
harm, through neglect, physical, emotional or sexual abuse (section 47 of the 
1989 Children Act).

The Inter-Agency Threshold document explains the signs and symptoms that may be 
consistent with abuse and illustrates good practice when working with children. 

Stage 2: Further investigation and/or making a referral 

• Kent Child Safeguarding Referral Form Once you/your line manager have decided to 
make a formal referral, following consultation with the Safeguarding Champions and, 
potentially, the Kent County Council Central Duty Team, the Child Protection Form 
must then be completed and forwarded to the Kent County Council Central Duty 
Team within two working days.

• Kent Adult Safeguarding Alert Form: Once you/your line manager have decided to 
make a referral following consultation with the Safeguarding Champions and, 
potentially, the Kent County Council Central Duty Team, this form is to be used to 
report concerns of possible adult abuse against an individual.

Page 64

https://www.kscmp.org.uk/guidance/kent-support-levels-guidance
https://kccchildrens.kent.gov.uk/web/portal/pages/supporttypeprofessional
http://www.kent.gov.uk/social-care-and-health/information-for-professionals/adult-protection/adult-protection-forms-and-policies/adult-protection-forms


NOTE: The more information received at the first point of contact, the more likely it is that 
appropriate services will be delivered at the earliest opportunity to help children and vulnerable 
adults. 

NOTE: For both elements, if you need to contact social services outside of normal office hours, 
for example during the night, call 03000 419191. 

NOTE: There are separate procedures in place for referrals relating to the Modern Slavery, 
PREVENT and domestic abuse agendas, and also for young people caring for adult family 
members. Please consult Appendix 2, or contact the Safeguarding Champions for further 
details. 

Page 65



42

Appendix 8: Accountability framework - key contacts
Appendix 8 provides a list of key points of contact that will be of use in fulfilling the reporting procedure set out in this Safeguarding Policy. 

Safeguarding role Service/Job title Contact 

Chief Executive Officer Stuart 
Bobby

Designated Safeguarding Officer Director of Communities Melanie Norris 
Lead Safeguarding Officer Lead Safeguarding Officer Natalie Brown 

Customer Services Jackie 
Denton

 

Community Safety Unit Kath Don ald & Sean Steer 
Direct Service Organisation Jane 

Gutteridge
Environmental Health & Licensing Mark Lees 
Housing Lynn 

Wilders 
 

Supported Housing Kudu 
Omogbai

The Gr@nd Liz Read 

Revenues and Benefits Sharon T emme-Powell  & Sharon Anderson & Georgia 
Roche

Safeguarding Champions 

Human Resources Charlotte Collins
Data Protection Officer Information Governance Manager Gayle Jo nes 

Referrals: 

KCC Central Duty Team:  
Children: 03000 411111 / Adults: 03000 416161 
Out of hours: 03000 419191 email: 
social.services@kent.gov.uk 

KCC Local Authority Designated Officer Team: 03000 410888 

Police: Emergency: 999 Non-emergency – general enquiries: 101 

P
age 66



Appendix 8: Accountability framework - key contacts

Other external agencies

Imago: 0300 111 1110 / http://www.imago.community/Children-and-Young-People/Kent-Young-Carers

Crimestoppers: 0800 555 111 / https://crimestoppers-uk.org/

Modern Slavery: 0800 0121 700 / https://www.modernslaveryhelpline.org

UK Visas and Immigration: 01303 247 088 / Kent&Sussex@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk 

National Domestic Violence Helpline: 0808 2000 247 / http://www.nationaldomesticviolencehelpline.org.uk/

Domestic Abuse (support services in Kent): http://www.domesticabuseservices.org.uk/  NSPCC: 

0808 800 5000 / http://www.nspcc.org.uk/   

Child Exploitation and Online Protection Centre: 0870 000 33 44 / https://www.ceop.police.uk/  

Shelter: 0808 800 4444 / http://www.shelter.org.uk/  

Porchlight: 0800 567 76 99 / http://www.porchlight.org.uk/  

Citizen’s Advice Bureau: 01474 878 639 / http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/  

Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board:  http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/partnerships/kent-and-medway-safeguarding-adults-
board 

Kent Safeguarding Children Board: http://www.kscb.org.uk/policies.aspx

P
age 67

http://www.imago.community/Children-and-Young-People/Kent-Young-Carers
https://modernslavery.co.uk/
https://modernslavery.co.uk/
http://www.choices-avr.org.uk/
https://modernslavery.co.uk/
https://modernslavery.co.uk/
http://www.nspcc.org.uk/
https://www.ceop.police.uk/
http://www.shelter.org.uk/
http://www.porchlight.org.uk/
http://www.porchlight.org.uk/
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/
http://www.kscb.org.uk/policies.aspx


44

P
age 68



Classification: Public
Key Decision: Yes

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 4 January 2022

Reporting officer: Nicole Arthur, Service Manager (Housing Operations) 

Subject: The Local Authority Delivery (LAD) Scheme Phase 2 funding 
grant

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Cabinet of notification received confirming the award of grant funding for The Local 
Authority Delivery (LAD) Scheme Phase 2.

Recommendations:
Cabinet are asked to:

1. Note the grant award notification and ratify the decision to accept the award taken by 
the Director (Housing), in consultation with the S.151 Officer. 

2. Approve the addition of the project to the current year capital programme, recognising 
that 67% of the cost of the project is to be met from external funding and 33% funded 
by the Council.

1. Introduction

1.1 The Local Authority Delivery (LAD) Scheme was announced by the Chancellor in 
July 2020 to support English Local Authorities, with up to £500 million with the 
aim of helping those most likely to be in fuel poverty. Delivery has been split into 
two phases; with Phase 1 (£200m) funding being allocated through two LA 
competitions managed by The Department of Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy and Phase 2 (£300m) funding being allocated to the five Local Energy 
hubs to distribute within their region.

1.2 The key rules for the use of funding are that Eligible homes are EPC bands E, F 
and G although some D rated properties are permitted under Phase 2. Eligible 

Page 69 Agenda Item 8



2

measures are any energy efficiency and heating measures compatible with the 
Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) with a focus on insulation and low carbon 
heating. Fossil fuel is excluded.

1.3 The council has been awarded up to £297,000 under the second phase of the 
scheme. To be eligible to receive the funding, the council needs to contribute 
33% of the total project costs. The scheme is administrated by the Greater South 
East Energy Hub (GSEEH) who are also responsible for distributing the funding.

1.4 As is becoming increasingly common, the timeframe for utilising this government 
grant funding stream is relatively short. The funding is only available until 31 
March 2022, after which any unspent funds will need to be returned. In response 
to this time pressure, the Director (Housing) has given approval so that the work 
can commence as soon as possible. Cabinet are therefore requested to ratify the 
decision to accept the award taken by the Director (Housing) for the purpose of 
securing external funds to install the energy saving measures as outlined in 
section 2 of this report.

2. Utilising the funding

2.1 To maximise the benefits of the funding, homes with some of the lowest energy 
ratings will be targeted for improvement. A fabric first approach will be taken to 
reduce heat loss and improve the insulation to the envelope of each property.

2.2 Using Parity Portfolio, the Council’s web-based assessment tool, 100 suitable 
homes have been identified which can be improved substantially by completing 
various energy efficiency measures and all the properties identified meet the 
requirements to be eligible for LAD2 Funding. This includes properties with an 
EPC band rating of E, F or G.

2.3 The homes will see an improvement in the current EPC ratings, reduced energy 
costs to the resident and reduction in carbon emissions. In line with the 
requirements of the funding, the project has a delivery deadline of March 2022 
which is achievable.

3. Budget

1.1 A total Capital budget of £148,500 is required to carry out the project.  Although 
the grant funding amounts to £297,000, due to government restrictions on 
utilising the grant and time timescales given, only £99,000 can be utilised towards 
the projects identified. The council’s financial contribution amounts to £49,500 
and this can be accommodated within the Capital Works budget - Insulation 
Works (C517/C0031).  As per Section 4.4.4 of the council’s Financial Procedure 
Rules, the Corporate Management Team may, after consultation with the Section 
151 Officer, vire up to £50,000 between any heads of expenditure or income 
within the approved revenue or capital budget for which they are responsible and 
this has recently been approved. 

Page 70



3

1.2 The Insulation works (C517/C0031) budget used to improve properties identified 
with insufficient loft or cavity wall insulation is showing an underspend. This is 
due to the Energy Team utilising the Government’s Energy Company Obligation 
(ECO) scheme to fully fund social housing properties with no insulation. We are 
expecting to improve approximately 40 eligible homes this year, with full funding 
available from ECO in the region of £60,000 and with no Council contribution.

1.3 The 100 homes identified for LAD2 funding are not eligible for improvements 
under ECO’s requirements. Therefore, the insulation budget compliments this 
project and ensure we are achieving the most efficient financial outcome form our 
available resources.

1.4 The unused £198,000 of the LAD2 allocation will not be used within this financial 
year, but it is expected the LAD2 delivery deadline date will be extended past 
March 2022 and the remaining funding still be available for future projects.

4. Background papers

4.1 None

Page 71



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
  

Legal 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Section 4.4.6 of the Financial Procedure Rules permits Cabinet to incur, without 
Council’s prior approval, expenditure not within the approved budget where the cost 
is to be met from external funding, a contingency or reserve set up for the purpose. 
This report therefore incorporates a recommendation to ensure that the Project is 
treated as an in-year addition to the capital programme
This project proves to be excellent value for money which will generate savings for 
the resident and maximises grant funding.

Risk Assessment Assurance have been given by the Contractor that they will be able to deliver the 
project to the timescales and budget available.     

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information Commissioner’s 
Office website via the above links

No.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N N/A

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

N No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People- Carbon Neutral Borough 

Climate Change The project fully contributes to the Council’s Climate Change Strategy

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications associated with this decision

Page 72

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications associated with this decision

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The scheme would help to reduce the risk of fuel poverty for the residents of the 
sheltered scheme

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 4 January 2022

Reporting officer: Assistant Director - Corporate Services

Subject: Insurance Tender

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Cabinet with the current position of the process for securing the future provision of 
insurance services for the council. 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only.

1.   Background to the report

1.1. The administration procedure of the Council’s insurance function is set out in 
Gravesham Borough Councils Financial Procedure Rules. The rules state that the 
Section 151 Officer will put in place insurance cover relating to Council activity and 
review all insurances in consultation with Chief Officers as appropriate.

1.2. The Council’s existing contract with Zurich Municipal (ZM) was secured in 2015 
through a joint tender project that was carried out with both Canterbury and 
Shepway Councils. Aon Risk Solutions were appointed under the Crown 
Commercial Services (CCS) Framework and assisted all three Councils with their 
respective insurance tenders.

1.3. The contract expired in 2020 and at the time, in addition to the usual tendering 
route, consideration was given to procuring insurance, through the Local 
Government Mutual (LGM).

1.4. Unfortunately, the LGM failed to offer appropriate insurance cover and this fact, 
coupled with government restrictions during the pandemic, prevented the Council 
from being able to fully consider the purchasing options that were available 
following expiry.  Consequently, the Director (Corporate Services) agreed to a 
further two-year contract extension being negotiated with ZM, to ensure the 
Council maintained uninterrupted insurance cover. The extension agreement was 
made in accordance with the Council’s Constitution and with due regard given to 
the Government’s Procurement Procedure Note (PPN 01/20) – Responding to 
COVID-19.  

Page 75 Agenda Item 9



2

1.5. The annual insurance premiums paid by the council during the two year extension 
period were, £761,162 in 2020/2021 and £812,025 in 2021/2022. The two year 
extension is due to expire on 29th June 2022.

2. Renewal option(s), following expiry of the existing contract.

2.1 When purchasing insurance for 2022/23 and beyond, the Council will need to 
comply with Regulation 18 Principles of Procurement - of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015. (The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (legislation.gov.uk).  
Regulation 18 states the following:
(1) Contracting authorities shall treat economic operators equally and without 
discrimination and shall act in a transparent and proportionate manner.
(2) The design of the procurement shall not be made with the intention of 
excluding it from the scope of this Part or of artificially narrowing competition.
(3) For that purpose, competition shall be considered to be artificially narrowed 
where the design of the procurement is made with the intention of unduly 
favouring or disadvantaging certain economic operators.

2.2 The Council’s Finance Officers and Senior Management have considered the two 
options below when deciding how insurance services will be procured in 2022:

Option 1 – To procure insurance services through a Full Open Tender.
Option 2 – To procure insurance services under a Framework Agreement. 

2.3   The table below shows the advantages and disadvantages of both options.

 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 
Creates greater opportunities,  as 
open tenders are available to all 
qualified and interested bidders. 

Will need to run a mini competition for 
broker services. 

High transparency and more 
competition.

Could limit supplier participation 
because of its excessive formalism.

There are no cost implications 
associated with contract award 
values.

Requires  a lot of internal support e.g, 
Finance, Legal and Procurement 
thereby increasing resource costs.

Requires strict adherence and 
compliance with procedures.

No need to run mini competition 
for broker services, as they are 
already appointed under 
Framework Agreements.

Unresponsive to change as new 
suppliers enterning the market may be 
excluded from agreements.

There is a cost implication relating to 
the contract award value that needs to 
be factored in.

Pre agreed terms and conditions.

Some suppliers may find framework 
procurement unattractive, due to not 
having any guarantee of business and 
consequently exclude themselves.

Can provide products that offer 
better value for money.

Fast and efficient as it removes 
the need to complete the lengthy 
procurement actions required 
under a full open tender process.

The timeframe for completion of the 
procurement actions can be a lengthy 
process.

Full Open 
Tender

Framework 
Agreement

Robust agreements readily 
available, resulting from thorough 
professional due diligence.

Page 76

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made


3

3.  Conclusion

3.1 Gravesham Borough Council have opted to procure insurance services under a 
Framework Agreement and for Broker services to be awarded direct to Aon Risk 
Solutions.  Aon are appointed under both the Crown Commercial Services (CCS) 
and Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation (YPO) Frameworks.

3.2 The principal benefits of utilising a framework include:

 Reduced timescales – the full OJEU procurement process will not be 
necessary.

 Ease of use –expert procurement advice will be available.
 Choice of supplier – the framework will potentially list a broad choice in 

suppliers. 
 Legality –A framework will be legal and in line with EU regulations 

reducing risk and bureaucracy in the procurement process.
 Assured supplier standards – suppliers will have been ‘pre-qualified’ as 

to their general suitability. This will provide assurance that suppliers meet 
the appropriate standards in the provision of insurance.

 Pre-defined terms and conditions – terms and conditions of contract will 
have been established, where relevant, and all suppliers will have signed 
and accepted the agreement and terms and conditions of call-off.

4.  Market knowledge

4.1 A preliminary Tender Strategy meeting has been held between Aon Risk 
Solutions and the Councils Finance Officer (Insurance) and Performance 
Analyst.  During the meeting which took place on the 18th October 2021, Aon 
advised that the insurance market is very challenging with increases between 
5% and 30% over the last 2 years. These increases mean a saving, even under 
competition, is unlikely and the Council should therefore expect to see an 
increase on the value of their existing insurance contract.

4.2    Aon also advised that the insurers who are expected to respond to the tender are 
Zurich Municipal, Protector, Maven, RMP and Travelers.

4.3    The table below provides an indicative timeline from engagement of a broker 
(AON) up to inception of the new contract.

Page 77



4

Aon and GBC discuss renewal and tender options 18-Oct-21
Aon issues insurance tender questionnaire 15-Nov-21
Meeting to discuss programme design 06-Dec-21
Cut-off date for insurers loss experiences to be included in the tender documentation 06-Dec-21
GBC complete and return Aon's tender questionnaire 10-Jan-22
Aon obtain updated, confirmed loss experiences from insurers all data to be provided by 17-Jan-22
Aon completes draft tender document and issues for GBC approval 31-Jan-22
Meeting to review draft ITT 07-Feb-22
Aon finalises tender document with GBC and issues to short listed insurers 21-Feb-22
Closing date for tender clarifications 14-Mar-22
Closing date for return of insurers tender responses 04-Apr-22
Aon to complete initial evaluation and scoring 25-Apr-22
Moderation meeting 02-May-22
Aon to issue recommendation report 16-May-22
Standstill letter to be issued 01-Jun-22
Standstill period expires. If no challenges have arisn, Aon to place all insurances with preferred 
insurers on behalf of the Council. 13-Jun-22
Cover placed 16-Jun-22
GBC to obtain internal approval for contract award and confirm instructions to Aon 24-Jun-22
Inception meetings to be made with awarded insurers 01-Jul-22

30 June 2022                       
(Dates to be 
agreed and 
amended).  
Week 

Renewal Date

5. Background Papers

5.1   There are no background papers to this report

Page 78



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Framework Agreements are fully compliant with  EU procurement regulations.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Advice obtained from Aon as part of the process indicates that insurance premiums 
have been increasing; resultantly, it is unlikely that savings will be realised from the 
tender exercise and the council has been advised that it should expect an increase 
on the value of their existing insurance contracts.

Risk Assessment It is of critical importance that the council has sufficient arrangements in place to 
manage the risks it may be exposed to; the council will use insurance cover to 
protect itself primarily against the financial consequences of risks it is unable to fully 
mitigate or manage to a tolerable level.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan 1. There are no direct implications for the Council’s strategic priorities.
The work of the External Auditor provides assurance of the council’s financial 
management arrangements and as such provides evidence of the delivery against 
Strategic Objective 3 - Progress -an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in 
outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 
skilled workforce and strong governance environment  

Climate Change N/A

Crime and Disorder N/A

Page 79

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 80



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 4 January 2022

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: COVID-19 Additional Relief Fund

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the COVID-19 Additional Relief Fund.

To seek Member approval to delegate authority for the design and implementation of the 
COVID-19 Additional Relief Fund Scheme to the Director (Corporate Services), in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Performance & Administration.

Recommendations:
1. Cabinet delegate authority to the Director (Corporate Services), in consultation with 

the Portfolio Holder for Performance & Administration, to develop a COVID-19 
Additional Relief Fund Scheme and associated policy, and to make the necessary 
arrangements to assess eligibility and determine award of funding to eligible 
businesses. 

2. Cabinet delegate authority to the Director (Corporate Services) to make any further 
technical amendments to the scheme where further government advice is issued and 
ensure that the Portfolio Holder for Performance & Administration is kept informed of 
any such amendments required.

1. Introduction

1.1 On 25 March, the Government announced plans to provide an additional business 
rates support package, worth £1.5 billion, to support businesses in England 
affected by COVID-19 but not eligible for existing support linked to business rates. 

1.2 On 15 December, the Government released guidance on the COVID-19 Additional 
Relief Fund (CARF) intended to support billing authorities, such as Gravesham, in 
administering the CARF business rates scheme. The guidance sets out the scope 
of CARF and the criteria which local authorities should have regard to when 
determining the awarding of business rates relief from the fund.  

Page 81 Agenda Item 10



2

2. Funding Received

2.1 A total of £1,762,857 has been allocated to Gravesham Borough Council for the 
CARF Scheme, which is required to be applied to the business rates account of 
eligible businesses during the 2021/22 billing period (i.e. 1 April 2021 to 31 March 
2022).  

2.2 The council will be required to comply with regular reporting requirements to the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) on distribution 
of funds through the scheme and there will be reconciliation exercise in due 
course to confirm reliefs awarded by the council from the funding received.

3. Scheme Design and Administration

3.1 It is for each local authority to design, adopt and implement the scheme within 
their authority boundary and determine award of financial support under their 
scheme.  It is also for each authority to decide the level of relief for individual 
hereditaments.

3.2 The guidance from Government does, however, set out some expectations in how 
the funding is expected to be used to grant reliefs to eligible businesses:

 not award relief to ratepayers who for the same period of the relief either are 
or would have been eligible for the Extended Retail Discount (covering Retail, 
Hospitality and Leisure), the Nursery Discount or the Airport and Ground 
Operations Support Scheme (AGOSS),

 not award relief to a hereditament for a period when it is unoccupied (other 
than hereditaments which have become closed temporarily due to the 
government’s advice on COVID-19, which should be treated as occupied for 
the purposes of this relief), and

 direct support towards ratepayers who have been adversely affected by the 
pandemic and have been unable to adequately adapt to that impact.

3.3 Given the speed with which the council is required to act, delegated authority is 
sought to be given to the Director (Corporate Services) to develop a COVID-19 
Additional Relief Fund Scheme and associated policy, and to make the necessary 
arrangements to assess eligibility and determine award of funding to eligible 
businesses. In developing a scheme for Gravesham, it is intended to work with 
other Kent Authorities in early January to seek to develop common principles for 
individual authority schemes, alongside taking advice from professional bodies 
such as the Institute of Revenues Rating and Valuation (IRRV).  As per the 
recommendations of this report, the final scheme design will be agreed in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Performance & Administration.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/1041468/CARF_LA_Guidance.pdf

Page 82

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1041468/CARF_LA_Guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1041468/CARF_LA_Guidance.pdf


3

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 83



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The COVID-19 Additional Relief Fund will be administered thorugh discretionary 
Business Rate Relief powers under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Payment of funds by Government to the council will be made 'on account' through a 
Section 31 payment to ensure there is no cashflow impact on the council of 
administering the scheme.  At the end of the billing year (i.e. after 31 March 2022) 
the council will be required to take part in a payment reconciliation exercise to 
consider any difference between the funds provided by Government and reliefs 
issued by the council, with any difference paid to or recovered from the council. 

Risk Assessment The aim of the payments proposed under the discretionary scheme are to support 
local businesses affected by COVID-19 but not eligible for existing support linked to 
business rates.  The financial risk to the council is minimised by funding being 
provided on account by Government for the Scheme.  Anticipated demand will need 
to be factored into any scheme design and associated levels of relief to be 
awarded.
Sufficient checks and controls will be incorporated into any application and payment 
process and through post-payment review processes to protect against fraud and 
error. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
Advice will be sought from the Data Protection Officer as scheme design and 
eligible businesses are confirmed.

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community.

Page 84

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Climate Change N/A

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

Any application process will be made available on the council website.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: Yes

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 4th January 2022

Reporting officer: Assistant Director - Corporate Services and Service Manager 
Property & Regulatory

Subject: Town Pier and Pontoon

Purpose and summary of report: 
To seek authorisation to agree the sale of the Town Pier and Pontoon, West Street, 
Gravesend in order to facilitate rapid river transport solutions for the Town.

Recommendations:
1. That Cabinet agrees that the Town Pier and Pontoon are declared surplus to 

requirements and approves their sale for the reasons set out in the report, noting the 
specific requirements outlined within the Heads of Terms for any sale to protect public 
access rights and secure long term management of the Town Pier / Pontoon and

2. Cabinet delegate authority to the Director (Communities), in consultation with the 
Leader of the Executive, Director (Corporate Services as s151 Officer) and Monitoring 
Officer to negotiate the final terms of the sale and enter into the necessary associated 
legal agreements on behalf of the Council.

1. Proposal

1.1 Heads of Terms have been drawn up for the proposed sale of the Town Pier and 
Pontoon to Thames Clippers.  This report seeks Cabinet approval for officers to 
negotiate and agree the final terms of the contract and enter into the necessary 
legal agreements, in consultation with the Leader of the Executive.

1.2 The terms of the sale include the continued use of the pontoon by the Gravesend / 
Tilbury ferry service and public access to the Town Pier.

1.3 The sale is also intended to act as a catalyst for the provision of rapid river 
transport solutions for the Town by an established river user as well as securing 
the long term management of maintenance of the facility.

Page 87 Agenda Item 11



2

2. Background

2.1 Town Pier

2.1.1 Gravesham Borough Council purchased the Town Pier in 2000 from a 
private owner.  The Grade II* listed pier is the oldest remaining cast iron 
pier in the world.

2.1.2 The Council’s vision at the time of purchase was:

2.1.2.1 that the pier should be properly restored accepting this would be 
undertaken by the public sector.  At the time of purchase it was on 
English Heritage’s ‘Buildings at Risk’ register.

2.1.2.2 That it be made to earn its living and upkeep by putting a use on 
the deck and that this should be done by the private sector.

2.1.2.3 That public access should be restored to at least part of the pier.

2.1.2.4 That the pier’s original use of facilitating visitors to arrive at and 
depart from Gravesend by river by the replacement of a pontoon 
off the pier should be reinstated.

2.1.3 The council subsequently granted a long lease of the pier to Q Breweries 
Ltd who subsequently carried out a fit out at its expense and opened the 
pier as a bar and restaurant.  The intention had been that once built Q 
Breweries Ltd would take on the running of the pontoon so that in effect the 
assets would be run and managed ‘as one’ solely by a private company.  

2.2 Pontoon

2.2.1 Some time after the council purchased the Town Pier, KCC approached 
the council regarding the provision of a pontoon.  Their main interest was 
to achieve an improved Gravesend / Tilbury ferry service in the town 
centre.  At that time the service ran from West Street which was the only 
available pier in Gravesend and was in private ownership.  As such the 
pier’s owner had to be awarded the contract without the benefit of 
tendering despite offering a service and facilities that fell short of the 
councils aspirations.  

2.2.2 A project team comprising GBC, KCC, Thurrock Council, English Heritage, 
PLA and Q Breweries Ltd was set up to design a pontoon which took 
account of its historic setting and could accommodate the ferry plus 
smaller and larger boats.

2.2.3 Whilst the pontoon would remain in Council ownership the intention had 
been that it would not be responsible for its maintenance and that the 
revenue costs would at least be minimised or preferably the responsibility 
of others.  Unfortunately Q Breweries Ltd went into administration before 
the pontoon was built.  This meant that the Council became responsible for 
the operation and management of the pontoon which was not the original 
intention.

Page 88



3

3. Lease of the Pier

3.1 As referred to above the Council granted a 125 year lease of the Town Pier to Q 
Breweries Ltd in 2005.  The nominal rent, £3,000 pa, reflected the cost of the 
works they had undertaken to bring the pier into use and also the ongoing 
maintenance costs of the pier which the tenant was responsible for.

3.2 The lease was assigned to Culinary Solutions UK Ltd in 2009 by the 
administrators for Q Breweries Ltd.

3.3 The council successfully forfeited the lease in 2019. This has provided an 
opportunity to reconsider the future of the Town Pier and Pontoon as given the 
Town Pier provides the only pedestrian access to the pontoon and they share 
electricity and water supplies it is preferable for both assets to be held in one 
ownership to avoid any conflicts / disputes in the future.

4. Context

4.1 The Local Plan includes a number of references to the river: 

 ‘by the end of the plan period, it will have built upon its strengths as a 
commercial centre and heritage riverside town to establish itself as a 
dynamic and desirable place to live and work and be a focus for shopping, 
leisure, service provision, culture and tourism.’  

 ‘Development proposals facilitating the expansion of river-related 
employment will be supported, particularly where these involve the use of 
the river for transport and / or provide specialist training or other facilities 
intended to support the continued use of the River Thames as a major 
commercial waterway.’ 

 ‘The Council will support proposals which facilitate the use of the River 
Thames for passenger transport and enable cruise liners to visit the 
Borough.’

4.2 There were also a significant number of river related comments as part of the 
Corporate Plan consultation which led to the formation of the following 
commitments / pledge within the plan:

 Enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy: deliver a programme of 
strategic regeneration schemes, supported by an effective Town Centre 
team.

 Raise Gravesham’s economic profile: develop business and transport 
infrastructure and improve local land usage through a diversified commercial 
premises portfolio.

 Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in their 
community reach and expand the visitor economy.

 ‘Showcase the very best of Gravesham, including our integral relationship 
with the River Thames’.

4.3 The proposed sale of Town Pier and Pontoon helps meet those Local Plan and 
Corporate Plan aspirations.  The proposed sale presents new opportunities to 
rejuvenate and safeguard the future of this important community asset and 

Page 89



4

redirect funding currently used for its upkeep to help provide essential services for 
the residents of the Borough.

4.4 In conjunction with the above planning officers are investigating options for the 
provision of more public access to the river.

5. Heads of Terms and related matters

5.1 Key points of the Heads of Terms are as follows:

5.1.1 Tilbury Ferry Service – GBC has included safeguards within the transfer to 
allow the Gravesend / Tilbury Ferry Service to continue on a sustainable 
footing.  KCC have been made aware of the safeguards being included in 
respect of the Gravesend / Tilbury Ferry Service and have raised no 
concerns to date.

5.1.2 Public access – safeguards are being sought so that public access to the 
end of the Pier will be allowed to continue.

5.1.3 In addition a buy back option has been included in the transfer so that in 
the event that Thames Clippers wish to dispose of the pier and pontoon in 
the next five years the Council has the right of first refusal to purchase it 
back.

5.1.4 The construction of the pontoon was partly funded by contributions from 
other organisations as follows:

Contributor Amount
Gravesham Borough Council £1,066,799

Kent County Council £   856,480

Interreg £   220,951

SEEDA £     50,000

5.1.5 No records relating to KCC’s contribution have been found but KCC 
officers have been made aware of the Council’s plans to dispose of the 
pontoon and the safeguards that are being put in place in respect of the 
Tilbury-Gravesend ferry.

5.1.6 Conditions relating to the Interreg funding are linked to the Department’s 
view of the useful economic life of the asset and the proposed use.  In this 
case as the current use will continue it is considered that the Department 
just needs to be notified.  Two e-mails have been sent seeking details of 
what information they require in this respect.

5.1.7 Nothing within the SEEDA grant agreement suggested that a disposal 
would trigger a repayment of the grant and further SEEDA only required 
records to be kept for six years. 

6. Valuation

6.1 A valuation of the Council’s freehold interest in the Town Pier and Pontoon has 
been obtained from Vail Williams in support of the sale.  The Council has a legal 
obligation to demonstrate that it obtains best consideration as regards sales (with 

Page 90



5

certain exceptions not relevant here) and the independent valuation confirms that 
the sale price represents this. 

7. Financial considerations

7.1 Income and expenditure

7.1.1 Actual income received for the pier and pontoon (2016/17 to 2020/21) has 
amounted to £35,970, compared to actual revenue costs incurred over the 
same period being £530,360.  Revenue costs are expected to increase 
over time.

7.1.2 Capital expenditure from 2016/17 to date has amounted to £57,580. 
Capital costs are expected to increase over time.

7.2 Impact of the sale on revenue, capital and reserve budgets

7.2.1 The financial impacts of the sale to the council, would result in savings 
being made to the revenue budget, a capital receipt and a re-direction of 
the Town Pier and Pontoon reserve balance as outlined below:

7.2.2 Revenue – across the current Medium Term Financial Plan (2022/23 – 
2030/31) there is budgetary provision to cover ongoing revenue costs such 
as insurance, repairs and maintenance and other premises costs.  
Revenue savings resulting from the sale would be in the region of 
£900,000, giving an average saving of £100,000 pa.

7.2.3 Capital – the sale would result in a capital receipt.  This will enhance the 
council’s capital resources available to support the wider capital 
programme within the Capital Strategy.

7.2.4 Reserve – the Town Pier Pontoon Reserve is projected to have a balance 
of £135,980 as at 31st March 2022.  Should the sale go ahead the balance 
in the reserve would no longer be needed and would be re-directed to the 
Climate Change Reserve and utilised to support the delivery of actions 
underpinning the council’s Climate Change Strategy.  This would be 
reported as part of the annual review of working balances and reserves 
pending consideration of this Cabinet item, and reported to Cabinet in late 
January 2022.

8. Risks and opportunities

8.1 Apart from costs key risks going forward if the Council were to retain ownership of 
these assets are: 

8.1.1 the availability of an operator to run the pontoon.   The management 
contract has attracted limited interest when it has been advertised 
previously and as such there is a risk that in the future no bids are 
forthcoming or only at a significantly higher fee than currently paid.

8.1.2 Use of the Town Pier.  The restaurant is only likely to attract interest from 
the local market with limited financial standing – to put this in context both 
previous operations ended in failure.  It is also likely that any legally 
represented potential tenant would seek to have their contribution towards 
the repair and maintenance costs of the Town Pier capped, not only 
because of the financial risks in respect of such costs but also because the 

Page 91



6

use of the walkway is shared.  This would therefore leave the Council with 
a residual financial liability.

8.1.3 Operational life and maintenance – the pontoon was designed for an 
operational life of 50 years with major maintenance of circa £225,000 
required every 15 to 20 years, with more minor maintenance required in 
the intervening years.  As such retention of the pontoon will require a 
significant financial outlay over its lifespan in addition to the cost of 
maintaining the Town Pier. 

8.2 As regards opportunities the Council has a long held aspiration to facilitate local 
river transport and a disposal to Thames Clippers, who have been running 
successful trials, would facilitate this.  Thames Clipper will need to make a 
significant financial outlay to facilitate this for which they require freehold 
ownership of the Town Pier and Pontoon.

8.3 A risks and opportunities matrix relating to the proposed sale is also attached.

9. Supporting documentation

9.1 Thames Clippers have also provided information in respect of the trials they have 
been running to and from London.  

10. Background Papers

10.1 There are no additional background papers relating to this report.

Page 92



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Annex 1 of the Constitution sets out that Cabinet has responsibility for the strategic 
and operational management of all of the Council's current and future resources of 
land, buildings, finance, personnel and other assets, including the use of Council-
owned land declared surplus to operational requirements. 
Given the unusual and complex nature of the disposal the Council has appointed 
Trowers & Hamlin to advise it on all aspects of the transaction.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

 Across the life of the Medium Term Financial Plan from 2022/23 to 2030/31 the 
revenue savings resulting from the disposal of the Town Pier and Pontoon as 
described in the report would be around £900k, i.e. an average of £100k pa.  These 
relate primarily tp insurance, repairs and maintenance and other premises-related 
costs.  Other financial considerations are detailed within the body of the report. 

Risk Assessment Contained within the body of the report.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Links to Corporate Plan Objectives 2 and 3

Climate Change There are no implications arising from the recommendations contained within this 
report.

Crime and Disorder There are no implications arising from the recommendations contained within this 
report.   

Page 93

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


8

Digital and website 
implications

There are no implications arising from the recommendations contained within this 
report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no implications arising from the recommendations contained within this 
report.

Page 94



Appendix 

Risks of retaining
 Ongoing financial commitment 

(repairs and maintenance).

 Staff resource.

 Specialist listed structure.

 External expertise required for 
advice / oversee works (limited 
pool).

 Cost of PLA licences.

 Limited pool of companies with 
expertise / interest in managing 
pontoon together with its cost.

Opportunities regarding disposal
 Making good use of the river.

 Attracting tourists / commuters into 
Gravesend / increased footfall in 
town.

 Puts Gravesend on the map.

 Potential for alignment of Tilbury 
ferry operations.

 Bringing a high profile, trusted brand 
to the Borough.

 Safeguarding a community asset.

 Improving connectivity.

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 97 Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service
	2. Appendix 2 Payroll Shared Service Report

	7 Revised Safeguarding Policy
	Safeguarding-Policy 2021 - January 2021

	8 The Local Authority Delivery (LAD) Scheme Phase 2 Funding Grant
	9 Insurance Tender
	10 COVID-19 Additional Relief Fund
	11 Town Pier and Pontoon Part A Report
	Appendix

	14 Town Pier and Pontoon Part B Report
	Appendix 2 Heads of Terms - Sale of Gravesend Pier - Heads of Terms - updated 19.11.2021
	Appendix 3 Valuation Report - Town Pier, Gravesend, November 2021
	Appendix 4 Pier and Pontoon report - Appendix 4
	Appendix 5 Pier and Pontoon report
	Appendix 6 Gravesend Trial overview - 2021


